




A long-term approach 
Organisation capability

“The people at Tullow make my job great. There are people 
from all over the world, and as a Canadian in the London office, 
I have found the Company very welcoming. Working for a growing 
company is challenging but rewarding as it pushes us to think 
outside our particular areas of expertise and work in cross-
functional teams to find the best solutions. In other organisations 
there are often firm precedents and processes already in place 
but at Tullow we are developing these each day, giving us the 
opportunity to draw on each other’s experiences and in turn 
grow in our own roles.”

Lindsay Golding, Tax adviser, Finance Department, London, UK.
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With effect from 1 January 2010 Tullow presents 
its financial statements in US dollars. We have 
decided it is now appropriate to change the 
presentational currency from sterling as the 
majority of our activities are in Africa where oil 
revenue and costs are dollar denominated.
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100 Tullow Oil plc 2010 Annual Report and Accounts

Financial statements 
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. The Directors are required  
by the IAS Regulation to prepare the Group financial statements 
under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation 
and have elected to prepare the parent company financial 
statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards and applicable law). Under company law the Directors 
must not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and 
of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.  

Company 
In preparing these financial statements, the Directors  
are required to: 

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply  
them consistently; 

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent; 

• State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have 
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements; and 

• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 
continue in business. 

Group 
In preparing the Group financial statements, International 
Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors: 

• Properly select and apply accounting policies; 

• Present information, including accounting policies, in a 
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information;  

• Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the 
specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable 
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, 
other events and conditions on the entity‘s financial position 
and financial performance; and 

• Make an assessment of the Group‘s ability to continue  
as a going concern. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Company and enable them  
to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006.  

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information included on the 
Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Directors’ responsibility statement  
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge: 

• The financial statements, prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit  
or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in  
the consolidation taken as a whole; and 

• The management report, which is incorporated into the 
Directors’ report, includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the 
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties that they face.  

By order of the Board  

Aidan Heavey Ian Springett
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

8 March 2011 8 March 2011 

TU062_P100-153.indd 100TU062_P100-153.indd   100 27/03/2011 09:3827/03/2011   09:38



  www.tullowoil.com  101

Fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

6
Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of Tullow Oil plc 

We have audited the Group financial statements of Tullow Oil plc 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise the Group 
income statement, the Group statement of comprehensive 
income and expense, the Group balance sheet, the Group 
statement of changes in equity, the Group cash flow statement, 
the accounting policies and the related notes 1 to 32. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as  
a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Company’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the Group financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the Group financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards 
for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and 
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
the Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-
financial information in the annual report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we 
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the Group financial statements: 

• Give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as 
at 31 December 2010 and of its profit for the year then ended; 

• Have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union; and 

• Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB 
As explained in the accounting policies to the Group financial 
statements, the Group in addition to complying with its legal 
obligation to apply IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, 
has also applied IFRSs as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

In our opinion the Group financial statements comply with 
IFRSs as issued by the IASB. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies  
Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ report for 
the financial year for which the Group financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the Group financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report  
to you if, in our opinion: 

• Certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified  
by law are not made; or 

• We have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit. 

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

• The Directors’ statement contained within the Directors’ 
report in relation to going concern; and 

• The part of the Corporate governance statement relating  
to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of  
the June 2008 Combined Code specified for our review; and 

• Certain elements of the report to shareholders by the  
Board on Directors’ remuneration. 

Other matters 
We have reported separately on the parent company financial 
statements of Tullow Oil plc for the year ended 31 December 
2010 and on the information in the Directors’ remuneration 
report that is described as having been audited.  

Matthew Donaldson (Senior Statutory Auditor)  
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors  
London, UK 

8 March 2011 
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Financial statements 
Group income statement 
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Notes 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Sales revenue  2 1,089.8 915.9
Cost of sales  (611.4) (625.5)

Gross profit  478.4 290.4
Administrative expenses  (89.6) (77.6)
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 25 – 16.0
Profit on disposal of oil and gas assets  0.5 4.9
Exploration costs written off 9 (154.7) (82.7)

Operating profit  3 234.6 151.0
Loss on hedging instruments 18 (27.7) (59.8)
Finance revenue 2 15.1 2.1
Finance costs  5 (70.1) (60.8)

Profit from continuing activities before tax  151.9 32.5
Income tax expense  6 (79.4) (1.9)

Profit for the year from continuing activities  72.5 30.6

Attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 54.0 25.2
Non-controlling interest 23 18.5 5.4

72.5 30.6

Earnings per ordinary share  8 ¢ ¢
Basic 6.1 3.2
Diluted  6.1 3.1

Group statement of comprehensive income and expense 
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Notes 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Profit for the year 72.5 30.6
Cash flow hedges 

Losses arising in the year 18 (26.8) (18.0)
Reclassification adjustments for losses  
included in profit on realisation 18 (10.3) (13.3)

(37.1) (31.3)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (11.4) 42.0
Other comprehensive income (48.5) 10.7
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 18 8.2 (12.4)
Other comprehensive income for the year (40.3) (1.7)

Total comprehensive income for the year 32.2 28.9

Attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 13.7 23.5
Non-controlling interest 18.5 5.4

32.2 28.9
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Group balance sheet 
As at 31 December 2010 

Notes
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

ASSETS  
Non-current assets  
Intangible exploration and evaluation assets 9 4,001.2 2,121.6 2,052.8
Property, plant and equipment  10 2,974.4 2,199.8 1,428.2
Investments  11 1.0 1.0 0.6
Deferred tax assets 20 110.7 50.4 –
Derivative financial instruments 18 – – 42.4

7,087.3 4,372.8 3,524.0
Current assets  
Inventories  13 138.2 109.6 54.8
Trade receivables  12 158.9 92.4 100.4
Other current assets  14 655.3 296.0 87.2
Cash and cash equivalents  15 338.3 252.2 450.3
Derivative financial instruments 18 – 2.3 28.9

1,290.7 752.5 721.6

Total assets  8,378.0 5,125.3 4,245.6
LIABILITIES  
Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables  16 (1,008.2) (557.1) (478.1)
Other financial liabilities 17 (309.8) – (304.8)
Current tax liabilities  (120.0) (73.8) (154.1)
Derivative financial instruments 18 (47.1) – –

(1,485.1) (630.9) (937.0)
Non-current liabilities  
Trade and other payables 16 (354.0) (31.8) (8.8)
Other financial liabilities  17 (1,890.0) (1,314.6) (708.1)
Deferred tax liabilities 20 (466.1) (473.5) (503.8)
Provisions  20 (278.6) (223.5) (194.0)
Derivative financial instruments 18 (35.3) (20.0) –

(3,024.0) (2,063.4) (1,414.7)

Total liabilities  (4,509.1) (2,694.3) (2,351.7)

Net assets 3,868.9 2,431.0 1,893.9
EQUITY 
Called up share capital  21 143.5 130.1 119.7
Share premium 21 251.5 242.3 231.1
Other reserves  22 574.2 614.5 607.8
Retained earnings  2,839.1 1,402.0 898.6

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  3,808.3 2,388.9 1,857.2
Non-controlling interest 23 60.6 42.1 36.7

Total equity  3,868.9 2,431.0 1,893.9

Approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 8 March 2011 

Aidan Heavey Ian Springett
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 
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Financial statements 
Group statement of changes in equity 
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Share 
capital

$m 

Share 
premium

$m

Other 
reserves 
(note 23)

$m

Retained 
earnings

$m
Total 

$m 

Non-
controlling 

interest 
$m

Total 
equity

$m

At 1 January 2008  117.4 178.0 541.9 555.0 1,392.3 31.0 1,423.2
Total recognised income and expense  
for the year  – – 73.2 423.5 496.7 5.7 502.4
Purchase of treasury shares – – (20.9) – (20.9) – (20.9)
New shares issued in respect of employee  
share options  1.3 11.1 – – 12.4 – 12.4
New shares issued in respect of  
royalty obligation 1.0 42.0 – – 43.0 – 43.0
Vesting of PSP shares – – 13.6 (13.6) – – –
Share-based payment charges  – – – 14.6 14.6 – 14.6
Dividends paid (note 7) – – – (80.9) (80.9) – (80.9)
At 1 January 2009  119.7 231.1 607.8 898.6 1,857.2 36.7 1,893.9
Total recognised income and expense  
for the year  – – (1.7) 25.2 23.5 5.4 28.9
Purchase of treasury shares – – (5.7) – (5.7) – (5.7)
Issue of equity shares (note 22) 9.7 – – 549.3 559.0 – 559.0
New shares issued in respect of employee  
share options  0.7 11.2 – – 11.9 – 11.9
Vesting of PSP shares – – 14.1 (14.1) – – –
Share-based payment charges  – – – 18.3 18.3 – 18.3
Dividends paid (note 7) – – – (75.3) (75.3) – (75.3)
At 1 January 2010  130.1 242.3 614.5 1,402.0 2,388.9 42.1 2,431.0
Total recognised income and expense  
for the year  – – (40.3) 54.0 13.7 18.5 32.2
Purchase of treasury shares – – – – – – –
Issue of equity shares (note 22) 13.1 2.1 – 1,432.9 1,448.1 – 1,448.1
New shares issued in respect of employee  
share options  0.3 7.1 – – 7.4 – 7.4
Vesting of PSP shares – – – (0.2) (0.2) – (0.2)
Share-based payment charges  – – – 29.6 29.6 – 29.6
Dividends paid (note 7) – – – (79.2) (79.2) – (79.2)

At 31 December 2010  143.5 251.5 574.2 2,839.1 3,808.3 60.6 3,868.9
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Group cash flow statement 
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Notes 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Cash flows from operating activities  
Cash generated from operations  24 818.0 463.6
Income taxes paid  (85.6) (187.1)

Net cash from operating activities   732.4 276.5

Cash flows from investing activities  
Disposal of subsidiaries 25 – 5.1
Disposal of oil and gas assets 6.7 12.3
Purchase of intangible exploration and evaluation assets  (2,006.1) (668.4)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (625.6) (520.9)
Advances to contractors (172.4) –
Finance revenue  5.4 1.2

Net cash used in investing activities   (2,792.0) (1,170.7)

Cash flows from financing activities  
Net proceeds from issue of share capital   1,453.3 570.6
Debt arrangement fees  (16.7) (100.5)
Repayment of bank loans (20.9) (376.3)
Drawdown of bank loan 907.0 701.9
Finance costs (94.2) (49.2)
Dividends paid  7 (79.2) (75.3)
Purchase of treasury shares – (5.5)

Net cash generated by financing activities   2,149.3 665.7

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  89.7 (228.5)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  252.2 450.3
Foreign exchange  (3.6) 30.4

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15 338.3 252.2
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Financial statements 
Accounting policies 
Year ended 31 December 2010 

(a) General information  
Tullow Oil plc is a company incorporated in Great Britain 
under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered 
office is given on page 160. The nature of the Group’s 
operations and its principal activities are set out in the 
operations and finance reviews on pages 36 to 61. 

(b) Adoption of new and revised standards  
In the current year, the following new and revised Standards 
and Interpretations have been adopted and have affected  
the amounts reported in these financial statements. 

Standards not affecting the reported results or the 
financial position  
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations 
have been adopted in the current year. Their adoption has not 
had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these 
financial statements but may impact the accounting for future 
transactions and arrangements. 

Amendment to IFRS 3 (2008) Business Combinations, IAS 27 
(2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and 
IAS 28 (2008) Investments in Associates 
These standards have introduced a number of changes in  
the accounting for business combinations when acquiring a 
subsidiary or an associate. IFRS 3 (2008) has also introduced 
additional disclosure requirements for acquisitions. These 
changes have had no impact on these financial statements 
because the Group has not effected any business 
combinations or investments in associates during 2010. 

Amendment to IFRS 2 Share-based Payments  
IFRS 2 has been amended, following the issue of IFRS 3(2008), 
to confirm that the contribution of a business on the formation 
of a joint venture and common control transactions is not 
within the scope of IFRS 2. 

Amendment to IAS 17 Leases 
IAS 17 has been amended such that it may be possible  
to classify a lease of land as a finance lease if it meets  
the criteria for that classification under IAS 17.  

Amendment to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition  
and Measurement 
IAS 39 has been amended to state that options contracts 
between an acquirer and a selling shareholder to buy or sell 
an acquiree that will result in a business combination at a 
future acquisition date are not excluded from the scope of  
the standard. 

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners  
The Interpretation provides guidance on when an entity should 
recognise a non-cash dividend payable, how to measure the 
dividend payable and how to account for any difference between 
the carrying amount of the assets distributed and the carrying 
amount of the dividend payable when the payable is settled. 

IFRS 2 (amended) Group Cash-settled Share-based  
Payment Transactions  
The amendment clarifies the accounting for share-based 
payment transactions between group entities. 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the 
following Standards and Interpretations which have not been 
applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet 
effective (and in some cases had not yet been adopted by the EU):  

IFRS 9  Financial Instruments 
IAS 24 (amended) Related Party Disclosures 
IAS 32 (amended) Classification of Rights 

Issues 
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial 

Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments 

IFRIC 14 (amended) Prepayments of Minimum 
Funding Requirement 

Improvements to IFRSs (May 2010) 
The adoption of IFRS 9 which the Group plans to adopt for  
the year beginning on 1 January 2013 will impact both the 
measurement and disclosures of financial instruments.  

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the other 
standards listed above will have a material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group in future periods.  

(c) Basis of accounting  
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)  
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). The financial statements have also been prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs adopted by the European Union  
and therefore the Group financial statements comply with 
Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.  

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments that 
have been measured at fair value. The principal accounting 
policies adopted by the Group are set out below. 

Following its announcement on 6 July 2010, Tullow Oil plc 
(the Company, together with its subsidiaries, the Group) has 
changed its presentational currency from sterling to US 
dollars with effect from 1 January 2010, due to the majority of 
oil revenues and costs being dollar-denominated. These are 
the first financial statements to be presented in US dollars 
and all comparative information has been restated in 
accordance with the requirements set out in IAS 21, The 
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates with respect  
to translation of results to presentational currency: 

a. assets and liabilities denominated in non-US dollar 
currencies were translated into US dollars at the  
closing rate prevailing at the balance sheet dates; 

b. non-US dollar income and expenses were translated  
into US dollars at an exchange rate which approximates  
to the exchange rate ruling at the date of transactions; and 

c. all resulting exchange rate differences have been 
recognised in other comprehensive income, within  
the foreign currency translation reserve.  
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In light of the ever-increasing operations of the Group being 
conducted in US dollars and the majority of the Group’s 
external funding being provided in US dollars the Directors 
have reviewed the functional currency of Tullow Oil Plc 
(Company only) and have concluded that it is appropriate for 
the functional currency of the Company to be converted from 
sterling to US dollars (effective date of 1 January 2010).  

The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis (see note 17 for further details). 

(d) Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each 
year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power  
to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated 
subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity 
therein. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of 
those interests at the date of the original business 
combination (see below) and the non-controlling share of 
changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses 
applicable to the non-controlling interest in excess of the  
non-controlling interest’s share in the subsidiary’s equity  
are allocated against the interests of the Group except to  
the extent that the non-controlling interest has a binding 
obligation and is able to make an additional investment  
to cover the losses. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during  
the year are included in the Group income statement from  
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date  
of disposal, as appropriate. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies 
used into line with those used by the Group. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses 
are eliminated on consolidation. 

Business combinations 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the 
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the 
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets 
given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus 
any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The 
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 are 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except for 
non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as 
held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 non-current assets 
held for sale and discontinued operations, which are 
recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell. 
Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and 
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the 
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the 
business combination, the excess is recognised immediately 
in the income statement or in income or expense. 

Joint ventures 
The Group is engaged in oil and gas exploration, development 
and production through unincorporated joint ventures. The 
Group accounts for its share of the results and net assets of 
these joint ventures as jointly controlled assets. In addition, 
where Tullow acts as operator to the joint venture, the gross 
liabilities and receivables (including amounts due to or from 
non-operating partners) of the joint venture are included in  
the Group balance sheet. 

(e) Non-current assets held for sale  
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for 
sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are 
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when  
the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group)  
is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Management must be committed to the sale which should  
be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale 
within one year from the date of classification.  

(f) Revenue 
Sales revenue represents the sales value, net of VAT and 
overriding royalties, of the Group’s share of liftings in the year 
together with tariff income. Revenue is recognised when goods 
are delivered and title has passed. 

Revenues received under take-or-pay sales contracts in respect 
of undelivered volumes are accounted for as deferred income. 

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to  
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 

(g) Over/underlift 
Lifting or offtake arrangements for oil and gas produced in 
certain of the Group’s jointly owned operations are such that 
each participant may not receive and sell its precise share of 
the overall production in each period. The resulting imbalance 
between cumulative entitlement and cumulative production less 
stock is ‘underlift’ or ‘overlift’. Underlift and overlift are valued 
at market value and included within debtors and creditors 
respectively. Movements during an accounting period are 
adjusted through cost of sales such that gross profit is 
recognised on an entitlements basis. The Group’s share of  
any physical stock, warehouse stock and materials is  
accounted for at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

(h) Inventory  
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost is determined by the first-in first-out method  
and comprises direct purchase costs, cost of production, 
transportation and manufacturing expenses. Net realisable 
value is determined by reference to prices existing at the 
balance sheet date. 
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Financial statements 
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(i) Foreign currencies 
The US dollar is the presentation currency of the Group. For 
the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, 
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s non USD denominated 
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the 
balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated 
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case 
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. 
Currency translation adjustments arising on the restatement 
of opening net assets of non US dollar subsidiaries, together 
with differences between the subsidiaries’ results translated  
at average rates versus closing rates, are taken directly to 
reserves. All resulting exchange differences are classified  
as equity until disposal of the subsidiary. On disposal, the 
cumulative amounts of the exchange differences are 
recognised as income or expense. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of 
exchange ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and 
liabilities are translated into US dollars at the exchange rate 
ruling at the balance sheet date, with a corresponding charge 
or credit to the income statement. However, exchange gains 
and losses arising on monetary items receivable from or 
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither 
planned nor likely to occur, which form part of the net 
investment in a foreign operation, are recognised in the 
foreign currency translation reserve and recognised in profit 
or loss on disposal of the net investment. In addition, 
exchange gains and losses arising on long-term foreign 
currency borrowings which are a hedge against the  
Group’s overseas investments, are dealt with in reserves. 

(j) Exploration, evaluation and production assets 
The Group adopts the successful efforts method of accounting  
for exploration and appraisal costs. All licence acquisition, 
exploration and evaluation costs and directly attributable 
administration costs are initially capitalised in cost centres  
by well, field or exploration area, as appropriate. Interest 
payable is capitalised insofar as it relates to specific 
development activities. Pre-licence costs are expensed in  
the period in which they are incurred. 

These costs are then written off as exploration costs in the 
income statement unless commercial reserves have been 
established or the determination process has not been 
completed and there are no indications of impairment. 

All field development costs are capitalised as property, plant 
and equipment. Property, plant and equipment related to 
production activities are amortised in accordance with the 
Group’s depletion and amortisation accounting policy. 

(k) Commercial reserves 
Commercial reserves are proven and probable oil and gas 
reserves, which are defined as the estimated quantities of 
crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological, 
geophysical and engineering data demonstrate with a 
specified degree of certainty to be recoverable in future  
years from known reservoirs and which are considered 
commercially producible. There should be a 50 per cent 
statistical probability that the actual quantity of recoverable 
reserves will be more than the amount estimated as proven 
and probable reserves and a 50 per cent statistical probability 
that it will be less. 

(l) Depletion and amortisation – discovery fields  
All expenditure carried within each field is amortised from the 
commencement of production on a unit of production basis, 
which is the ratio of oil and gas production in the period to the 
estimated quantities of commercial reserves at the end of the 
period plus the production in the period, generally on a field-
by-field basis. Costs used in the unit of production calculation 
comprise the net book value of capitalised costs plus the 
estimated future field development costs. Changes in the 
estimates of commercial reserves or future field development 
costs are dealt with prospectively. 

Where there has been a change in economic conditions  
that indicates a possible impairment in a discovery field,  
the recoverability of the net book value relating to that field is 
assessed by comparison with the estimated discounted future 
cash flows based on management’s expectations of future oil 
and gas prices and future costs. Where there is evidence of 
economic interdependency between fields, such as common 
infrastructure, the fields are grouped as a single cash 
generating unit for impairment purposes. 

Any impairment identified is charged to the income statement as 
additional depletion and amortisation. Where conditions giving 
rise to impairment subsequently reverse, the effect of the 
impairment charge is also reversed as a credit to the income 
statement, net of any depreciation that would have been 
charged since the impairment. 

(m) Decommissioning 
Provision for decommissioning is recognised in full when the 
related facilities are installed. A corresponding amount equivalent 
to the provision is also recognised as part of the cost of the 
related property, plant and equipment. The amount recognised  
is the estimated cost of decommissioning, discounted to its net 
present value, and is reassessed each year in accordance with 
local conditions and requirements. Changes in the estimated 
timing of decommissioning or decommissioning cost estimates 
are dealt with prospectively by recording an adjustment to the 
provision, and a corresponding adjustment to property, plant  
and equipment. The unwinding of the discount on the 
decommissioning provision is included as a finance cost. 

(n) Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated in the balance sheet  
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised 
impairment loss. Depreciation on property, plant and 
equipment other than production assets is provided at rates 
calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value  
of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful 
economic life of between three and five years. 

(o) Finance costs and debt 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. 

Finance costs of debt are allocated to periods over the term  
of the related debt at a constant rate on the carrying amount. 
Arrangement fees and issue costs are deducted from the  
debt proceeds on initial recognition of the liability and  
are amortised and charged to the income statement as 
finance costs over the term of the debt. 
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(p) Share issue expenses and share premium account 
Costs of share issues are written off against the premium 
arising on the issues of share capital. 

(q) Taxation 
Current and deferred tax, including UK corporation tax and 
overseas corporation tax, are provided at amounts expected  
to be paid using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred 
corporation tax is recognised on all temporary differences  
that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date 
where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay 
more, or right to pay less, tax in the future have occurred at the 
balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to 
the extent that it is considered more likely than not that there 
will be suitable taxable profits from which the underlying 
temporary differences can be deducted. Deferred tax is 
measured on a non-discounted basis. 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on 
acquisitions that are categorised as Business Combinations. 
Deferred tax is recognised at acquisition as part of the 
assessment of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired.  
Any deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement 
as the underlying temporary difference is reversed.  

Petroleum Revenue Tax (PRT) is treated as an income tax and 
deferred PRT is accounted for under the temporary difference 
method. Current UK PRT is charged as a tax expense on 
chargeable field profits included in the income statement  
and is deductible for UK corporation tax. 

(r) Pensions 
Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution pension 
schemes are charged to operating profit on an accruals basis.  

(s) Derivative financial instruments  
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its 
exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates and movements in oil and gas prices. 

Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. 

The purpose for which a derivative is used is established  
at inception. To qualify for hedge accounting, the derivative 
must be ‘highly effective’ in achieving its objective and this 
effectiveness must be documented at inception and throughout 
the period of the hedge relationship. The hedge must be 
assessed on an ongoing basis and determined to have been 
‘highly effective’ throughout the financial reporting periods  
for which the hedge was designated. 

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified  
as either fair value hedges, when they hedge the exposure to 
changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability, or cash 
flow hedges, where they hedge exposure to variability in cash 
flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated 
with a recognised asset or liability or forecasted transaction. 

In relation to fair value hedges which meet the conditions for 
hedge accounting, any gain or loss from re-measuring the 
derivative and the hedged item at fair value is recognised 
immediately in the income statement. Any gain or loss on the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against 
the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognised in the 
income statement. 

For cash flow hedges, the portion of the gains and losses on 
the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective 
hedge is taken to equity and the ineffective portion, as well  
as any change in time value, is recognised in the income 
statement. The gains and losses taken to equity are 
subsequently transferred to the income statement during  
the period in which the hedged transaction affects the income 
statement or if the hedge is subsequently deemed to be 
ineffective. A similar treatment applies to foreign currency 
loans which are hedges of the Group’s net investment in  
the net assets of a foreign operation. 

Gains or losses on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting treatment (either from inception or during the life 
of the instrument) are taken directly to the income statement 
in the period. 

(t) Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms  
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards  
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases and are charged to the income statement  
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the 
Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of 
the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in 
the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments 
are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the 
lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged 
directly against income, unless they are directly attributable to 
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance 
with the Group’s policy on borrowing costs. 

(u) Share-based payments 
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based 
Payments. In accordance with the transitional provisions of that 
standard, only those awards that were granted after 7 November 
2002, and had not vested at 1 January 2005, are included. 

All share-based awards of the Group are equity settled as 
defined by IFRS 2. The fair value of these awards has been 
determined at the date of grant of the award allowing for the 
effect of any market-based performance conditions. This fair 
value, adjusted by the Group’s estimate of the number of 
awards that will eventually vest as a result of non-market 
conditions, is expensed uniformly over the vesting period. 

The fair values were calculated using a binomial option pricing 
model with suitable modifications to allow for employee turnover 
after vesting and early exercise. Where necessary, this model  
was supplemented with a Monte Carlo model. The inputs to the 
models include: the share price at date of grant; exercise price; 
expected volatility; expected dividends; risk free rate of interest; 
and patterns of exercise of the plan participants. 

(v) Financial assets 
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a 
trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset  
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the 
investment within the timeframe established by the market 
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus 
transaction costs. 
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Financial assets are classified into the following specified 
categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ 
(FVTPL); ‘held-to-maturity’ investments; ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) 
financial assets; and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and  
is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

(w) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 
deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(x) Loans and receivables 
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have  
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and 
receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for 
short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would 
be immaterial. 

(y) Effective interest method 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate  
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt 
instruments other than those financial assets classified as  
at FVTPL. The Group chooses not to disclose the effective 
interest rate for debt instruments that are classified as at  
fair value through profit or loss. 

(z) Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified 
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into. 

(aa) Equity instruments 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

(ab) Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other 
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis. The effective interest 
method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a 
financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period. 

(ac) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty 
Details of the Group’s significant accounting judgements and 
critical accounting estimates are set out in these financial 
statements and include: 

• Carrying value of intangible exploration and evaluation fixed 
assets (note 9); 

Where a project is sufficiently advanced the recoverability of 
intangible exploration assets is assessed by comparing the 
carrying value to internal and operator estimates of the net 
present value of projects. Intangible exploration assets are 
inherently judgemental to value and further details on the 
accounting policy is included in accounting note (j). The 
amounts for intangible exploration and evaluation assets 
represent active exploration projects. These amounts will  
be written off to the income statement as exploration  
costs unless commercial reserves are established or the 
determination process is not completed and there are  
no indications of impairment. The outcome of ongoing 
exploration, and therefore whether the carrying value of 
exploration and evaluation assets will ultimately be recovered, 
is inherently uncertain. 

• Carrying value of property, plant and equipment (note 10); 

Management perform impairment tests on the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment assets at least annually with 
reference to indicators in IAS 36. Key assumptions in the 
impairment models relate to prices that are based on forward 
curves for two years and the long-term corporate assumptions 
thereafter and discount rates that are risked to reflect 
conditions specific to individual assets. 

• Commercial reserves estimates (note 10); 

Proven and probable reserves are estimated using standard 
recognised evaluation techniques. The estimate is reviewed at 
least twice annually and is regularly reviewed by independent 
consultants. Future development costs are estimated taking 
into account the level of development required to produce the 
reserves by reference to operators, where applicable, and 
internal engineers.  

• Presumption of going concern (note 17); 

The Group closely monitors and manages its liquidity risk. Cash 
forecasts are regularly produced and sensitivities run for different 
scenarios including, but not limited to, changes in commodity 
prices, different production rates from the Group’s portfolio of 
producing fields and delays in development projects. The Group 
normally seeks to ensure that it has a minimum ongoing capacity 
of $500 million for a period of at least 12 months to safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The major assumption in current cash flow forecasts is that 
the receipt of disposal proceeds from the Uganda farm-down, 
which have been delayed longer than expected, will now be 
received in Q2 2011. On this basis, the Group’s forecasts, 
taking into account reasonably possible changes as described 
above, show that the Group will be able to operate within its 
current debt facilities and have very significant financial 
headroom for the 12 months from the date of the approval of 
the 2010 Annual Report and Accounts. However, in the unlikely 
event that the Ugandan farm-down process is delayed beyond 
Q2 2011, the Directors are confident that the Group can 
manage its financial affairs, including the securing of 
additional funding, agreement with existing lenders,  
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portfolio management and deferring of non-essential capital 
expenditure, so as to ensure that sufficient funding remains 
available for the next 12 months. 

After taking account of the above, the Directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt  
the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report  
and Accounts. 

• Derivative financial instruments (note 18); 

The Group’s derivative financial instruments are marked  
to market.  

• Decommissioning costs (note 20); 

The costs of decommissioning are reviewed twice annually  
and are estimated by reference to operators, where 
applicable, and internal engineers. 

During 2010 a review of all decommissioning estimates  
was undertaken by an independent specialist and the 2010 
financial statements now include estimates in accordance 
with this study. 

Provision for environmental clean-up and remediation costs  
is based on current legal and constructive requirements, 
technology and price levels. 

• Recoverability of deferred tax assets (note 20). 
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Note 1. Segmental reporting 
In the opinion of the Directors, the operations of the Group comprise one class of business, oil and gas exploration, development 
and production and the sale of hydrocarbons and related activities. The Group also operates within four geographical markets 
Africa, Europe, South Asia and South America. 

The following tables present revenue, profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s business segments. 
All sales are to external customers. 

Africa
$m

Europe
$m

South
Asia
$m

South 
America 

$m 
Unallocated

$m
Total

$m

2010 
Sales revenue by origin 850.4 218.3 21.1 – – 1,089.8

Segment result 328.9 (6.8) 4.9 (3.3) – 323.7
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries –
Profit on disposal of oil and gas assets 0.5
Unallocated corporate expenses (89.6)

Operating profit 234.6
Loss on hedging instruments (27.7)
Finance revenue 15.1
Finance costs (70.1)

Profit before tax 151.9
Income tax expense (79.4)

Profit after tax 72.5

Total assets 7,438.1 584.5 88.8 166.3 100.3 8,378.0

Total liabilities (1,928.6) (291.4) (26.6) (39.2) (2,223.3) (4,509.1)

Other segment information 
Capital expenditure: 

 Property, plant and equipment 1,041.7 104.7 2.9 – 3.1 1,152.4
 Intangible exploration and evaluation assets 2,007.5 22.2 9.2 8.8 – 2,047.7

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation (230.3) (125.5) (10.3) – (1.2) (367.3)
Impairment losses recognised in income statement (4.3) – – – – (4.3)
Exploration costs written off (128.7) (22.0) (0.7) (3.3) – (154.7)
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Africa

$m
Europe

$m

South
Asia
$m

South 
America 

$m 
Unallocated

$m
Total

$m

2009 
Sales revenue by origin 645.4 248.6 21.9 – – 915.9

Segment result 212.4 (10.7) 8.0 (2.0) – 207.7
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries  16.0
Profit on disposal of oil and gas assets  4.9
Unallocated corporate expenses  (77.6)

Operating profit  151.0
Loss on hedging instruments  (59.8)
Finance revenue  2.1
Finance costs  (60.8)

Profit before tax  32.5
Income tax expense  (1.9)

Profit after tax  30.6

Total assets 4,162.7 654.1 78.1 185.9 44.5 5,125.3

Total liabilities (992.4) (266.0) (18.1) (49.2) (1,368.6) (2,694.3)

Other segment information 
Capital expenditure: 

 Property, plant and equipment 498.6 47.5 5.2 – 9.4 560.7
 Intangible exploration and evaluation assets 640.8 27.3 4.0 10.1 2.5 684.7

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation (215.8) (126.8) (8.1) – (8.5) (359.2)
Impairment losses recognised in income statement (12.5) – – – – (12.5)
Exploration costs written off (20.7) (56.3) (1.6) (2.0) (2.1) (82.7)
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Note 1. Segmental reporting continued

Africa
$m

Europe
$m

South
Asia
$m

South 
America 

$m 
Unallocated

$m
Total

$m

2008 
Sales revenue by origin 909.9 379.6 21.1 – – 1,310.6

Segment result 244.1 93.9 (59.1) (74.6) – 204.3
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 395.6
Profit on disposal of oil and gas assets 57.8
Unallocated corporate expenses (79.2)

Operating profit 578.5
Loss on hedging instruments 66.6
Finance revenue 7.3
Finance costs (87.5)

Profit before tax 564.9
Income tax expense (135.7)

Profit after tax 429.2

Total assets 3,227.5 717.8 94.5 145.7 60.1 4,245.6

Total liabilities (944.7) (308.5) (28.2) (46.0) (1,024.3) (2,351.7)

Other segment information 
Capital expenditure: 

 Property, plant and equipment 196.8 74.2 8.2 – 13.1 292.3
 Intangible exploration and evaluation assets 551.4 63.9 21.5 22.5 – 659.3

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation (210.6) (152.1) (10.7) – (7.3) (380.7)
Impairment losses recognised in income statement (33.5) – (15.0) – – (48.5)
Exploration costs written off (271.5) (23.3) (49.6) (74.6) – (419.0)

Included in revenue arising from Africa are revenues of approximately $546.1 million (2009: $269.2 million, 2008: $484.5 million) 
which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customers. 

Unallocated expenditure and net liabilities include amounts of a corporate nature and not specifically attributable to a 
geographic area. The liabilities comprise the Group’s external debt and other non-attributable corporate liabilities. 

Note 2. Total revenue 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Sales revenue (excluding tariff income) 
 Oil and gas revenue from the sale of goods 1,074.3 881.4
 Profit on realisation of cash flow hedges 3.4 23.8

1,077.7 905.2
Tariff income 12.1 10.7

Total sales revenue 1,089.8 915.9
Finance revenue 15.1 2.1

Total revenue 1,104.9 918.0
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Note 3. Operating profit 

2010
$m

2009
$m

Operating profit is stated after charging: 
Staff costs (see note 4) 55.4 36.3
Depletion and amortisation 355.9 350.7
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 4.3 12.5
Depreciation of other fixed assets 11.4 8.5
Write down of inventory recognised as an expense 0.2 –
Exploration write off 154.7 82.7
Share-based payment charge (including provisions for NI) 11.9 17.8
Loss on hedging instruments 27.7 59.8
Operating lease rentals 6.5 3.8
Auditors’ remuneration (see below) 2.9 2.2

2010
$m

2009
$m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for:  
The audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.2 0.1
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 1.0 0.9
Other services pursuant to legislation 0.2 0.2
Other services – assurance 0.2 0.2

Total audit and other assurance services 1.6 1.4

Non-audit services: 
Tax services 0.4 0.1
Information technology services 0.3 0.3
Corporate finance services 0.3 –
Other services – non assurance 0.3 0.4

Total non-audit excluding assurance services 1.3 0.8

Total 2.9 2.2

All assurance and other non-audit services are in compliance with UK ethical standards on independence and the Group’s  
non-audit services policy. The level of such fees reflects a period of significant expansion for the Group. 

Taxation services include tax compliance services and assistance in connection with enquiries from local fiscal authorities. 
Information technology services includes IT security analysis and assistance provided to management in the selection of  
new systems. The auditors are not involved in the design or implementation of IT systems.  

Other non-assurance services include assistance to management in assessing changes to the finance function resulting  
from the Group’s expansion, and subscription fees for upstream data. 
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Note 4. Staff costs 
The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group worldwide was:  

2010
Number

2009
Number

Administration 567 292
Technical 323 268

Total 890 560

Staff costs in respect of those employees were as follows: 

2010
$m

2009
$m

Salaries 105.4 74.4
Social security costs 12.1 10.4
Pension costs 7.2 4.4

124.7 89.2

A proportion of the Group’s staff costs shown above is recharged to the Group’s joint venture partners and a proportion  
is capitalised into the cost of fixed assets under the Group’s accounting policy for exploration, evaluation and production  
assets. The net staff costs recognised in the income statement were $55.4 million (2009: $36.3 million). 

Details of Directors’ remuneration, Directors’ transactions and Directors’ interests are set out in the part of the Directors’ 
remuneration report described as having been audited which forms part of these financial statements.  

Note 5. Finance costs 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 103.4 44.6
Interest on obligations under finance leases 3.1 0.3

Total borrowing costs 106.5 44.9
Less amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets (78.2) (39.7)

28.3 5.2
Finance and arrangement fees  28.5 37.8
Foreign exchange losses – 3.1
Unwinding of discount on decommissioning provision (note 20) 13.3 14.7

70.1 60.8

Borrowing costs included in the cost of qualifying assets during the year arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated 
by applying a capitalisation rate of 4.51% (2009: 3.89%) to cumulative expenditure on such assets. 
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Note 6. Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 
(a) Analysis of charge in period 
The tax charge comprises: 

2010
$m

2009
$m

Current tax 
UK corporation tax 23.6 32.7
Foreign tax 98.3 76.6

Total corporate tax 121.9 109.3
UK petroleum revenue tax  10.2 (4.4)

Total current tax 132.1 104.9

Deferred tax 
UK corporation tax 1.0 (71.3)
Foreign tax (47.7) (31.9)

Total corporate tax (46.7) (103.2)
UK petroleum revenue tax (6.0) 0.2

Total deferred tax (note 20) (52.7) (103.0)

Total tax expense 79.4 1.9

(b) Factors affecting tax charge for period 
The tax rate applied to profit on ordinary activities in preparing the reconciliation below is the upstream UK corporation tax 
applicable to the Group’s oil and gas activities plus the rate of Supplementary corporation tax (SCT).  

The difference between the total current tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK 
corporation tax applicable to UK profits derived from upstream activities (30%) plus the rate of SCT in respect of UK upstream 
profits (20%) to the profit before tax is as follows: 

2010
$m

2009
$m

Group profit on ordinary activities before tax  151.9 32.5

Tax on Group profit on ordinary activities at a combined standard UK corporation  
tax and SCT rate of 50% (2009: 50%) 76.0 16.3

Effects of: 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 64.5 12.0
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised (2.7) (16.7)
Net losses not recognised  39.2 60.3
Petroleum revenue tax (PRT) 3.2 (4.2)
UK corporation tax deductions for current PRT (1.6) 2.1
Adjustments relating to prior years 0.9 (8.2)
Income taxed at a different rate (28.2) 9.3
Income not subject to corporation tax (71.9) (69.0)

Group total tax expense for the year 79.4 1.9

The Group’s profit before taxation will continue to be subject to jurisdictions where the effective rate of taxation differs from that 
in the UK. Furthermore, unsuccessful exploration expenditure is often incurred in jurisdictions where the Group has no taxable 
profits, such that no related tax benefit arises. Accordingly, the Group’s tax charge will continue to depend on the jurisdictions  
in which pre-tax profits and exploration costs written off arise.  
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Note 6. Taxation on profit on ordinary activities continued
The Group has tax losses of $840.1 million (2009: $412.3 million) that are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable 
profits in the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as 
they may not be used to offset taxable profits elsewhere in the Group. 

The Group has recognised $184.0 million in deferred tax assets in relation to taxable losses (2009: $38.9 million). 

No deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences of $485.6 million (2009: $433.8 million) relating to unremitted 
earnings of overseas subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and
it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

Note 7. Dividends 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Declared and paid during year 
Final dividend for 2009: Stg4p (2008: Stg4p) per ordinary share 51.6 50.2
Interim dividend for 2010: Stg2p (2009: Stg2p) per ordinary share 27.6 25.1

Dividends paid 79.2 75.3

Proposed for approval by shareholders at the AGM 
Final dividend for 2010: Stg4p (2009: Stg4p) per ordinary share 54.9 51.3

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as  
a liability in these financial statements. 

Note 8. Earnings per ordinary share 
Basic earnings per ordinary share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares that would be issued if employee and other share options were converted into ordinary shares. 

2010
$m

2009
$m

Earnings 
Net profit attributable to equity shareholders 54.0 25.2
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares – –

Diluted net profit attributable to equity shareholders 54.0 25.2

2010 2009

Number of shares 
Basic weighted average number of shares 879,788,671 796,431,613
Dilutive potential ordinary shares 7,952,123 9,006,048

Diluted weighted average number of shares 887,740,794 805,437,661
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Note 9. Intangible exploration and evaluation assets 

2010 
$m 

2009
$m

2008
$m

At 1 January  2,121.6 2,052.8 1,910.6
Additions 2,047.7 684.7 659.3
Disposals (6.2) – (74.6)
Amounts written off  (154.7) (82.7) (419.0)
Transfer (to)/from property, plant and equipment (note 10) (7.0) (542.1) 0.7
Currency translation adjustments (0.2) 8.9 (24.2)

At 31 December  4,001.2 2,121.6 2,052.8

The amounts for intangible exploration and evaluation assets represent active exploration projects. These amounts will be 
written off to the income statement as exploration costs unless commercial reserves are established or the determination 
process is not completed and there are no indications of impairment. The outcome of ongoing exploration, and therefore  
whether the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets will ultimately be recovered, is inherently uncertain. 

Additions include $1,450 million in relation to the acquisition of a 50% stake in Blocks 1 and 3A in Uganda (2009: $nil, 2008: $nil) 
and capitalised interest of $30.7 million (2009: $17.5 million, 2008: $nil million). The Group only capitalises interest in respect of 
intangible exploration and evaluation assets where it is considered that development is highly likely and advanced appraisal  
and development is ongoing. 

In 2008 amounts written off included an impairment charge calculated in accordance with IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets – of 
$111.5 million, determined by estimating value in use. The impairment resulted from lower reserves estimates following a 
change in the most likely development plans and lower assumed oil prices following the fall in oil prices in the second half of
2008. In calculating this impairment, management used a range of assumptions, including a long-term oil price of $80 per barrel
and a 15% pre-tax discount rate.  
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Note 10. Property, plant and equipment 
Oil and gas 

assets 
$m 

Other fixed 
assets

$m
Total

$m

Cost 
At 1 January 2008 3,040.0 28.8 3,068.8
Additions 279.2 13.1 292.3
Disposals (62.6) (0.5) (63.1)
Transfer to intangible exploration and evaluation fixed assets (note 9) (0.7) – (0.7)
Currency translation adjustments (410.6) (9.4) (420.0)
At 1 January 2009 2,845.3 32.0 2,877.3
Additions 551.7 9.0 560.7
Disposals (29.3) – (29.3)
Transfer from intangible exploration and evaluation fixed assets (note 9) 542.1 – 542.1
Currency translation adjustments 108.0 4.4 112.4
At 1 January 2010 4,017.8 45.4 4,063.2
Additions 1,112.9 39.5 1,152.4
Transfer from intangible exploration and evaluation fixed assets (note 9) 7.0 – 7.0
Currency translation adjustments (35.3) (0.3) (35.6)

At 31 December 2010 5,102.4 84.6 5,187.0

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 
At 1 January 2008 (1,275.4) (14.8) (1,290.2)
Charge for the year (373.4) (7.3) (380.7)
Impairment loss (48.5) – (48.5)
Disposals 48.1 0.2 48.3
Currency translation adjustments 216.8 5.2 222.0
At 1 January 2009 (1,432.4) (16.7) (1,449.1)
Charge for the year (350.7) (8.5) (359.2)
Impairment loss (12.5) – (12.5)
Disposals 21.8 – 21.8
Currency translation adjustments (62.0) (2.4) (64.4)
At 1 January 2010 (1,835.8) (27.6) (1,863.4)
Charge for the year (355.9) (11.4) (367.3)
Impairment loss (4.3) – (4.3)
Currency translation adjustments  22.3 0.1 22.4

At 31 December 2010 (2,173.7) (38.9) (2,212.6)

Net book value 

At 31 December 2010 2,928.7 45.7 2,974.4

At 31 December 2009 2,182.0 17.8 2,199.8

At 31 December 2008 1,412.9 15.3 1,428.2
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Additions include capitalised interest of $47.4 million (2009: $22.8 million, 2008: $11.4 million). 

The carrying amount of the Group’s oil and gas assets includes an amount of $346.7 million (2009: $13.5 million,  
2008: $14.1 million) in respect of assets held under finance leases. 

Other fixed assets include leasehold improvements, motor vehicles and office equipment. 

The 2010 impairment loss relates to the Chinguetti field in Mauritania (2009: Chinguetti field in Mauritania, 2008: Chinguetti field in 
Mauritania). The recoverable amount was determined by estimating its value in use. In calculating this impairment, management 
used a production profile based on proven and probable reserves estimates and a range of assumptions, including an oil price 
assumption equal to the forward curve in 2011 and 2012 and $80 per barrel thereafter and a pre-tax discount rate assumption  
of 15%.  

Depletion and amortisation for oil and gas properties is calculated on a unit-of-production basis, using the ratio of oil and gas 
production in the period to the estimated quantities of commercial reserves at the end of the period plus production in the period, 
generally on a field-by-field basis. Commercial reserves estimates are based on a number of underlying assumptions including 
oil and gas prices, future costs, oil and gas in place and reservoir performance, which are inherently uncertain. Commercial 
reserves estimates are based on a Group reserves report produced by an independent engineer. However, the amount of 
reserves that will ultimately be recovered from any field cannot be known with certainty until the end of the field’s life. 
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Note 11. Investments 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

Unlisted investments 1.0 1.0 0.6

The fair value of these investments is not materially different from their carrying value. 

Details of the subsidiaries which the Directors consider are the most important subsidiaries as at 31 December 2010 and the 
percentage of share capital owned by the Company are set out below. All of these subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
Group statements. A complete list of investments in subsidiary undertakings will be attached to the Company‘s annual return 
made to the Registrar of Companies: 

Name %  Country of operation Country of registration 

Directly held 
Tullow Oil SK Limited 100  United Kingdom  England & Wales 
Tullow Oil SPE Limited 100  United Kingdom  England & Wales 
Tullow Group Services Limited 100  United Kingdom England & Wales 
Tullow Oil Limited 100  Ireland Ireland  
Tullow Overseas Holdings B.V. 100  Netherlands Netherlands 
Tullow Gabon Holdings Limited (50% held indirectly) 100  Gabon Isle of Man 

Indirectly held  
Tullow (EA) Holdings Limited 100  Isle of Man British Virgin Islands 
Tullow Oil International Limited 100  Channel Islands  Jersey  
Tullow Pakistan (Developments) Limited 100  Pakistan  Jersey  
Tullow Bangladesh Limited 100  Bangladesh  Jersey  
Tullow Côte d’Ivoire Limited 100  Côte d’Ivoire  Jersey  
Tullow Côte d’Ivoire Exploration Limited 100  Côte d’Ivoire  Jersey  
Tullow Ghana Limited 100  Ghana Jersey 
Tullow Kenya B.V. 100  Kenya Netherlands 
Tullow Ethiopia B.V. 100  Ethiopia Netherlands 
Tullow Tanzania B.V. 100  Tanzania Netherlands 
Tullow Netherlands B.V. 100  Netherlands Netherlands 
Tullow Guyane B.V. 100  Guyana Netherlands 
Tullow Liberia B.V. 100  Liberia Netherlands 
Tullow Sierra Leone B.V. 100  Sierra Leone Netherlands 
Tullow Suriname B.V. 100  Suriname Netherlands 
Tullow Congo Limited  100  Congo Isle of Man 
Tullow Equatorial Guinea Limited 100  Equatorial Guinea Isle of Man 
Tullow Kudu Limited  100  Namibia Isle of Man 
Tullow Uganda Limited  100  Uganda Isle of Man 
Tullow Oil Gabon SA 100  Gabon Gabon 
Tulipe Oil SA* 50  Gabon Gabon 
Tullow Chinguetti Production (Pty) Limited 100  Mauritania Australia 
Tullow Petroleum (Mauritania) (Pty) Limited 100  Mauritania Australia 
Tullow Oil (Mauritania) Limited 100  Mauritania Guernsey 
Tullow Uganda Operations (Pty) Limited 100  Uganda Australia 
Tullow Hardman Holdings B.V. 100  Netherlands Netherlands 
Tullow South Africa (Pty) Limited 100  South Africa South Africa 
Hardman Petroleum France SAS 100  French Guiana France 

The principal activity of all companies relates to oil and gas exploration, development and production. 

* The Group is deemed to control Tulipe Oil SA in accordance with IAS 27 as it has a majority of the voting rights on the board of Tulipe Oil SA. 
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Note 12. Trade receivables 
Trade receivables comprises amounts due for the sale of oil and gas. No receivables have been impaired and no allowance  
for doubtful debt has been recognised (2009: $nil, 2008: $nil). 

Note 13. Inventories 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

Warehouse stocks and materials 118.6 93.4 40.5
Oil stocks 19.6 16.2 14.3

138.2 109.6 54.8

Inventories includes a provision of $3.8 million (2009: $3.8 million, 2008: $3.5 million) for warehouse stock and materials where  
it is considered that the net realisable value is lower than the original cost. 

Note 14. Other current assets 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

Other debtors 604.4 232.1 66.0
Prepayments 12.5 45.9 8.0
VAT recoverable 38.4 18.0 13.2

655.3 296.0 87.2

Included within other debtors are amounts due from joint venture partners of $58.0 million (2009: $120.4 million, 2008: $43.7 million), 
advances to contractors for the Jubilee FPSO $433.2 million (2009: $80.4 million, 2008: $nil), deferred expenses of $2.8 million  
(2009: $9.6 million, 2008: $12.5 million) and other sundry debtors of $110.4 million (2009: $21.7 million, 2008: $9.8 million).

Note 15. Cash and cash equivalents 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

Cash at bank and in hand 338.3 241.2 349.7
Short-term deposits – 11.0 100.6

338.3 252.2 450.3

Cash and cash equivalents includes an amount of $nil (2009: $2.4 million, 2008: $52.1 million) which is a reserve held on fixed term 
deposit in support of a Letter of Credit facility which relates to the Group’s share of certain decommissioning costs and an amount  
of $279.0 million (2009: $152.9 million, 2008: $221.5 million) which the Group holds as operator in joint venture bank accounts. 
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Note 16. Trade and other payables 
Current liabilities 

2010 
$m 

2009
$m

2008
$m

Trade payables 68.3 132.2 187.8
Other payables 229.1 53.1 44.8
Deferred income (take or pay) – – 1.0
Accruals 657.8 321.8 200.2
PAYE and social security – 28.4 25.3
VAT and other similar taxes 37.3 17.2 14.8
Current portion of finance lease (note 19) 15.7 4.4 4.2

1,008.2 557.1 478.1

The other payables balance primarily contains payables in relation to operated licences (shown gross in the Group  
consolidated accounts). 

Non-current liabilities 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

Other payables 27.3 27.4 –
Non-current portion of finance lease (note 19) 326.7 4.4 8.8

354.0 31.8 8.8

– After one year but within five years 115.4 31.8 8.8
– After five years 238.6 – –

354.0 31.8 8.8

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing except for finance leases (note 19). 

Note 17. Financial liabilities 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

Current 
Short-term borrowings 309.8 – 304.8

Non-current 
Term loans repayable 
– After one year but within two years 192.5 989.0 569.4
– After two years but within five years 1,697.5 325.6 138.7

1,890.0 1,314.6 708.1

Group bank loans are stated net of unamortised arrangement fees of $81.3 million (2009: $81.6 million, 2008: $17.1 million). 

Short-term borrowings, term loans and guarantees are secured by fixed and floating charges over the oil and gas assets  
(note 10) of the Group.  

Capital management  
The Group defines capital as the total equity of the Group. Capital is managed in order to provide returns for shareholders  
and benefits to stakeholders and to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Tullow is not subject to any 
externally-imposed capital requirements. 

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may put in place new debt facilities, issue new shares for cash, repay debt, 
engage in active portfolio management, adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, or other such restructuring activities  
as appropriate. 

No significant changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December 2010. 
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The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt ratio, that is, the ratio of net debt to net debt plus equity. Net debt is 
calculated as gross debt, as shown in the balance sheet, less cash and cash equivalents. 

2010 
$m 

2009
$m

2008
$m

External borrowings 2,281.2 1,396.1 1,030.0
Less cash and cash equivalents (338.3) (252.2) (450.3)

Net debt 1,942.9 1,143.9 579.7
Equity 3,868.9 2,431.0 1,893.9

Net debt ratio 50% 47% 31%

The movement from 2009 is attributable to higher external borrowings during 2010, principally as a result of the Group’s 
$2,630 million investment in development, appraisal and exploration activities which is offset by an increase in equity 
attributable to the equity raise in January 2010. 

Interest rate risk  
The interest rate profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, excluding trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables, at 31 December 2010 was as follows: 

The profile at 31 December 2009 for comparison purposes was as follows: 

The profile at 31 December 2008 for comparison purposes was as follows: 

Floating rate debt comprises bank borrowings at interest rates fixed in advance from overnight to three months at rates determined by 
US dollar LIBOR and sterling LIBOR. Fixed rate debt comprises bank borrowings at interest rates fixed in advance for periods greater 
than three months or bank borrowings where the interest rate has been fixed through interest rate hedging.  

US$
$m

Euro
$m

Stg  
$m 

Other
$m

Total
$m

Cash at bank at floating interest rate 224.5 5.7 18.7 12.0 260.9
Cash at bank on which no interest is received 74.8 0.4 0.3 1.9 77.4
Fixed rate debt (386.4) – (158.4) – (544.8)
Floating rate debt (1,655.0) – – – (1,655.0)

(1,742.1) 6.1 (139.4) 13.9 (1,861.5)

US$
$m

Euro
$m

Stg  
$m 

Other
$m

Total
$m

Cash at bank at floating interest rate 34.4 1.0 194.9 9.7 240.0
Cash at bank on which no interest is received – – 11.4 0.8 12.2
Fixed rate debt – – (544.8) – (544.8)
Floating rate debt (58.9) – (710.9) – (769.8)

(24.5) 1.0 (1,049.4) 10.5 (1,062.4)

US$
$m

Euro
$m

Stg  
$m 

Other
$m

Total
$m

Cash at bank at floating interest rate 80.7 1.8 347.7 13.7 443.9
Cash at bank on which no interest is received – – 5.8 0.6 6.4
Fixed rate debt – – (50.0) – (50.0)
Floating rate debt – – (962.9) – (962.9)

80.7 1.8 (659.4) 14.3 (562.6)
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Note 17. Financial liabilities continued
The $2.5 billion Reserves Based Lending Facility incurs interest on outstanding debt at sterling or US dollar LIBOR plus  
an applicable margin. The outstanding debt is repayable in variable amounts (determined semi-annually) over the period to  
31 December 2015, or such time as is determined by reference to the remaining reserves of the assets, whichever is earlier.  

The $650 million Revolving Credit Facility is repayable in full on 31 December 2011. The facility incurs interest on outstanding 
debt at US dollar LIBOR plus an applicable margin.  

At the end of December 2010, the headroom under the two facilities amounted to $685 million; $175 million under the $2.5 billion 
Reserves Based Lending Facility and $510 million under the Revolving Credit Facility. At the end of December 2009, the headroom
under the two facilities was $620 million; $370 million under the $2 billion Reserves Based Lending Facility and $250 million under  
the Revolving Corporate Facility.  

The Group is exposed to floating rate interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at floating interest rates. The Group hedges 
its floating rate interest rate exposure on an ongoing basis through the use of interest rate derivatives, namely interest rate swaps, 
interest rate collars and interest rate caps. The mark-to-market position of the Group’s interest rate portfolio as at 31 December 2010 
is $13.6 million out of the money (2009: $8.9 million out of the money, 2008: $3.0 million out of the money). The interest rate hedges are 
included in the fixed rate debt in 2010, in the above table, and also included in the fixed rate debt in 2009 and 2008. 

Foreign currency risk  
Wherever possible, the Group conducts and manages its business in sterling (UK) and US dollars (all other countries), the 
operating currencies of the industry in the areas in which it operates. The Group’s borrowing facilities are also denominated in 
sterling and US dollars, which further assists in foreign currency risk management. From time to time the Group undertakes certain 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. These exposures are managed by executing foreign currency financial 
derivatives, typically to manage exposures arising on corporate transactions such as acquisitions and disposals. There were  
no foreign currency financial derivatives in place at the 2010 year end. Cash balances are held in other currencies to meet 
immediate operating and administrative expenses or to comply with local currency regulations.  

As at 31 December 2010, the only material monetary assets or liabilities of the Group that were not denominated in the functional 
currency of the respective subsidiaries involved were £106.0 million ($164.0 million) cash drawings under the Group’s borrowing
facilities. As at 31 December 2009, the only material monetary assets or liabilities of the Group that were not denominated in the 
functional currency of the respective subsidiaries involved were $1,337 million cash drawings under Group’s borrowing facilities.  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting 
date are net liabilities of $164.0 million (2009: net liabilities of $1,337 million). 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis  
The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuations in the US dollar. The Group measures its market risk exposure by running various 
sensitivity analyses including 20% favourable and adverse changes in the key variables. The sensitivity analyses include only 
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 20% change  
in foreign currency rates. 

As at 31 December 2010, a 20% increase in foreign exchange rates against the functional currencies of entities in the Group 
would have resulted in a decrease in foreign currency denominated liabilities and equity of $27.3 million (2009: $226.7 million) 
and a 20% decrease in foreign exchange rates against the functional currencies of entities in the Group would have resulted in 
an increase in foreign currency denominated liabilities and equity of $32.8 million (2009: $339.9 million). 

Liquidity risk  
The Group manages the liquidity requirements by the use of both short- and long-term cash flow projections, supplemented by 
maintaining debt financing plans and active portfolio management. Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests 
with the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the 
Group’s short-, medium- and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. 

The Group closely monitors and manages its liquidity risk. Cash forecasts are regularly produced and sensitivities run for different 
scenarios including, but not limited to, changes in commodity prices, different production rates from the Group’s portfolio of 
producing fields and delays in development projects. The Group normally seeks to ensure that it has a minimum ongoing capacity 
of $500 million for a period of at least 12 months to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The major assumption in current cash flow forecasts is that the receipt of disposal proceeds from the Uganda farm-down,  
which has been delayed longer than expected, will now be received in Q2 2011. On this basis, the Group’s forecasts, taking into
account reasonably possible changes as described above, show that the Group will be able to operate within its current debt 
facilities and have very significant financial headroom for the 12 months from the date of the 2010 Annual Report and Accounts.
However, in the unlikely event that the Ugandan farm-down process is delayed beyond Q2 2011, the Directors are confident that 
the Group can manage its financial affairs, including the securing of additional funding, agreement with existing lenders, 
portfolio management and deferring of non-essential capital expenditure, so as to ensure that sufficient funding remains 
available for the next 12 months. 

After taking account of the above, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Annual Report and Accounts. 
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The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed
repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on  
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. 

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate

Less than 
1 month

$m

1-3
months

$m

3 months 
to 1 year

$m

1-5 
Years 

$m 

5+
years

$m
Total

$m

31 December 2010 
Non-interest bearing 0% 100.4 188.5 15.4 30.4 – 334.7
Finance lease liability 14% 4.5 14.3 43.8 232.5 401.2 696.3
Variable interest rate instruments 4.7% 7.9 16.3 400.9 2,256.7 – 2,681.8
Total 112.8 219.1 460.1 2,519.6 401.2 3,712.8

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate

Less than 
1 month

$m

1-3
months

$m

3 months 
to 1 year

$m

1-5 
Years 

$m 

5+
years

$m
Total

$m

31 December 2009 
Non-interest bearing 0% 163.3 54.5 13.1 – – 230.9
Finance lease liability 2.8% – – 4.6 4.6 – 9.2
Variable interest rate instruments 4.7% 5.4 11.0 49.0 1,247.5 343.2 1,656.1
Total 168.7 65.5 66.7 1,252.1 343.2 1,896.2

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate

Less than 
1 month

$m

1-3
months

$m

3 months 
to 1 year

$m

1-5 
Years 

$m 

5+
years

$m
Total

$m

31 December 2008 
Non-interest bearing 0% 256.2 5.8 1.0 10.7 – 273.7
Finance lease liability 2.8% – – 4.5 9.2 – 13.7
Variable interest rate instruments 4.4% 2.5 5.1 333.5 745.7 – 1,086.8
Total 258.7 10.9 339.0 765.6 – 1,374.2
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Note 18. Financial instruments 
Financial risk management objectives 
The Group holds a portfolio of commodity derivative contracts, with various counterparties, covering both its underlying oil  
and gas businesses. In addition, the Group holds a small portfolio of interest rate derivatives. The use of financial derivatives is 
governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed  
by the internal auditors on a regular basis. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative
financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 
The Group considers the carrying value of all the financial assets and liabilities to be materially the same as the fair value.
The Group has no material financial assets that are past due. The Group predominantly sells to large oil and gas multinationals
and no financial assets are impaired at the balance sheet date and all are considered to be fully recoverable. 

Fair values of derivative instruments 
Under IAS 39 all derivatives must be recognised at fair value on the balance sheet with changes in such fair value between 
accounting periods being recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the derivatives have been designated as  
cash flow or fair value hedges. The fair value is the amount for which the asset or liability could be exchanged in an arm’s length 
transaction at the relevant date. Fair values are determined using quoted market prices (marked-to-market values) where 
available. To the extent that market prices are not available, fair values are estimated by reference to market-based 
transactions, or using standard valuation techniques for the applicable instruments and commodities involved. 

The Group’s derivative instrument book and fair values were as follows: 

31 December 2010 
Liabilities 

Less than 
one year 

$m 

One to 
three years

 $m

 Total
2010

$m

Cash flow hedges 
Oil derivatives (12.7) (4.9) (17.6)
Gas derivatives (7.0) (7.3) (14.3)
Interest rate derivatives (8.4) (5.2) (13.6)

(28.1) (17.4) (45.5)
Deferred premium 
Oil derivatives (18.7) (17.8) (36.5)
Gas derivatives (0.3) (0.1) (0.4)

(19.0) (17.9) (36.9)
Total assets/(liabilities) (47.1) (35.3) (82.4)

31 December 2009 
Liabilities 

Less than 
one year 

$m 

One to 
three years

 $m

 Total
2009

$m

Cash flow hedges 
Oil derivatives 12.7 2.4 15.1
Gas derivatives 13.4 0.1 13.5
Interest rate derivatives (6.0) (2.9) (8.9)

20.1 (0.4) 19.7

Deferred premium 
Oil derivatives (17.8) (19.6) (37.4)
Gas derivatives – – – 

(17.8) (19.6) (37.4)

Total assets 2.3 (20.0) (17.7)
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31 December 2008 
Assets/(liabilities): 

Less than 
one year 

$m 

One to 
three years

 $m

 Total
2008

$m

Cash flow hedges 
Oil derivatives 38.4 51.7 90.1
Gas derivatives (8.2) (7.5) (15.7)
Interest rate derivatives (1.3) (1.8) (3.1)

28.9 42.4 71.3

Deferred premium 
Oil derivatives –  – – 
Gas derivatives –  – – 

–  – – 

Total assets 28.9 42.4 71.3

The derivatives’ maturity and the timing of the recycling into income or expense coincide. 

The following provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, 
grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 

All derivative financial instruments of the Group are Level 2 (2009: Level 2, 2008: Level 2). 

Level 1: fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2: fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

Level 3: fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that  
are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year. 

Market risk 
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates 
and interest rates. 

Oil and gas prices 
The Group uses a number of derivative instruments to mitigate the commodity price risk associated with its underlying oil and 
gas revenues. Such commodity derivatives will tend to be priced using pricing benchmarks, such as Brent Dated, D-1 Heren  
and M-1 Heren, which correlate as far as possible to the underlying oil and gas revenues respectively. The Group hedges its 
estimated oil and gas revenues on a portfolio basis, aggregating its oil revenues from substantially all of its African oil interests 
and its gas revenues from substantially all of its UK gas interests. 

At 31 December 2010, the Group’s oil hedge position was summarised as follows:  

Oil hedges H1 2011 H2 2011 2012 2013

Volume – bopd 16,500 16,500 10,500 7,500
Average Price* – $/bbl 93.56 93.73 94.44 93.88

* Average hedge prices are based on market prices as at 31 December 2010 and represent the current value of hedged volumes at that date. 

At 31 December 2010, the Group’s gas hedge position was summarised as follows:  

Gas hedges H1 2011 H2 2011 2012 2013

Volume – mmscfd 47.90 30.80 19.75 7.35
Average Price* – p/therm 57.55 56.69 59.79 61.89

* Average hedge prices are based on market prices as at 31 December 2010 and represent the current value of hedged volumes at that date. 
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Note 18. Financial instruments continued
At 31 December 2009, the Group’s oil hedge position was summarised as follows:  

Oil hedges H1 2010 H2 2010 2011 2012

Volume – bopd 14,500 14,500 10,500 6,500
Average price* – $/bbl 81.39 83.83 85.77 88.02

* Average hedge prices are based on market prices as at 31 December 2009 and represent the current value of hedged volumes at that date. 

At 31 December 2009, the Group’s gas hedge position was summarised as follows:  

Gas hedges H1 2010 H2 2010 2011 2012

Volume – mmscfd 32.73 19.71 10.43 4.31
Average price* – p/therm 42.56 45.22 49.11 50.50

* Average hedge prices are based on market prices as at 31 December 2009 and represent the current value of hedged volumes at that date. 

As at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, all of the Group’s oil and gas derivatives have been designated as cash flow 
hedges. The Group’s oil and gas hedges have been assessed to be ‘highly effective’ within the range prescribed under IAS 39 using 
regression analysis. There is, however, the potential for a degree of ineffectiveness inherent in the Group’s oil hedges arising 
from, among other factors, the discount on the Group’s underlying African crude relative to Brent and the timing of oil liftings 
relative to the hedges. There is also the potential for a degree of ineffectiveness inherent in the Group’s gas hedges which arises 
from, among other factors, field production performance on any day. 

Income statement hedge summary 
Gains from settlements during the period amounted to $3.4 million (2009:$23.8 million) (note 2) and these are included in the 
revenue line. 

The changes in the fair value of hedges which are required to be recognised immediately in the income statement for the year 
were as follows:  

Hedge reserve summary 
The hedge reserve represents the portion of deferred gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed effective in cash flow 
hedges. The movement for the period in the hedge reserve is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Revaluation losses on open contracts arising during the year amounted to $26.8 million while reclassification adjustments  
for losses included in profit on realisation amounted to $10.3 million. After tax effects of $8.2 million the total movement in
the hedge reserve amounts to ($28.9 million) (note 22): 

(Loss)/gain on hedging instruments: 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

Cash flow hedges 
Gas derivatives 
Ineffectiveness – – 0.2
Time value (11.9) 6.0 10.6

(11.9) 6.0 10.8

Oil derivatives 
Ineffectiveness (0.2) (6.9) 11.8
Time value (15.6) (58.9) 44.0

(15.8) (65.8) 55.8

Total net (loss)/gain for the year in the income statement (27.7) (59.8) 66.6

Deferred amounts in the hedge reserve 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

At 1 January 3.2 46.9 (263.6)
Revaluation losses arising in the year (26.8) (18.0) (66.6)
Reclassification adjustments for (losses)/gains included in profit on realisation (10.3) (13.3) 384.1
Movement in deferred tax 8.2 (12.4) (7.0)

(28.9) (43.7) 310.5

At 31 December  (25.7) 3.2 46.9
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The following table summarises the deferred (losses)/gains on derivative instruments in the hedge reserve, by type of commodity
and net of tax effects: 

Financial derivatives 
The Group internally measures its market risk exposure by running various sensitivity analyses, including utilising 10% 
favourable and adverse changes in the key variables. 

Oil and gas sensitivity analysis 
The following analysis, required by IFRS 7, is intended to illustrate the sensitivity to changes in market variables, being dated 
Brent oil prices and UK D-1 Heren and M-1 Heren natural gas prices. The sensitivity analysis, which is used internally by 
management to monitor financial derivatives, has been prepared using the following assumptions: 

• The pricing adjustments relate only to the point forward mark-to-market (MTM) evaluations; 

• The price sensitivities assume there is no ineffectiveness related to the oil and gas hedges; and 

• The sensitivities have been run only on the intrinsic element of the hedge as management consider this to be the material 
component of the MTM oil and gas hedges. 

As at 31 December 2010, a 10% increase in the dated Brent oil price curve would have decreased equity by approximately  
$21.8 million (2009: $16.4 million, 2008: $31.9 million), a 10% decrease would have increased equity by approximately  
$5.9 million (2009: $10.5 million, 2008: $39.1 million). 

As at 31 December 2010, a 10% increase in the UK D-1 Heren and M-1 Heren natural gas price curves would have decreased 
equity by approximately $8.6 million (2009: $4.6 million, 2008: $15.2 million), a 10% decrease would have increased equity  
by approximately $3.4 million (2009: $5.1 million, 2008: $14.9 million). 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
As at 31 December 2010, the interest rate derivative position was out-of-the-money to an amount of $13.6 million  
(2009: $8.9 million, 2008: $3.9 million); a 25bps increase in the underlying interest rate would increase equity by  
approximately $1.2 million (2009: $2.4 million, 2008: $0.8 million). 

Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will fail to perform or fail to pay amounts due, resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The primary activities of the Group are oil and gas exploration and production. The Group has a credit policy that governs 
the management of credit risk, including the establishment of counterparty credit limits and specific transaction approvals. The 
Group limits credit risk by assessing creditworthiness of potential counterparties before entering into transactions with them 
and continuing to evaluate their credit worthiness after transactions have been initiated. The Group attempts to mitigate credit 
risk by entering into contracts that permit netting and allow for termination of the contract upon the occurrence of certain events 
of default. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value 
of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. 

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having 
similar characteristics. The maximum financial exposure due to credit risk on the Group’s financial assets, representing the sum 
of cash and cash equivalents, investments, derivative assets, trade receivables and other current assets, as at 31 December 2010 
was $1,153.0 million (2009: $643.9 million, 2008: $709.7 million). 

Deferred amounts in the hedge reserve net of tax effects 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

Cash flow hedges 
Gas derivatives 1.2 9.4 (5.3)
Oil derivatives (13.3) 2.7 54.4
Interest rate derivatives (13.6) (8.9) (2.2)

(25.7) 3.2 46.9
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Note 19. Obligations under finance leases 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

Amounts payable under finance leases: 
– Within one year 62.5 4.6 4.5
– Within two to five years 232.5 4.6 9.2
– After five years 401.3 – –

696.3 9.2 13.7
Less future finance charges (353.9) (0.4) (0.7)

Present value of lease obligations 342.4 8.8 13.0

Amount due for settlement within 12 months (note 16) 15.7 4.4 4.2

Amount due for settlement after 12 months (note 16) 326.7 4.4 8.8

The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates the carrying amount. The average remaining lease term is 10 years 
(2009: two years, 2008: three years). For the year ended 31 December 2010, the effective borrowing rate was 14% (2009: 2.8%, 
2008: 2.8%). 

The significant increase in the year is due to the Jubilee FPSO (Kwame Nkrumah) being recognised as a finance lease in 
accordance with IAS 17, Leases.

Note 20. Provisions 
(i) Decommissioning costs 

2010 
$m 

2009
$m

2008
$m

At 1 January 223.5 194.0 269.9
New provisions and changes in estimates  55.5 6.6 18.8
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 26) – (2.2) (70.3)
Decommissioning payments (10.3) (2.0) (0.4)
Unwinding of discount (note 5) 13.3 14.7 18.8
Currency translation adjustment (3.4) 12.4 (42.8)

At 31 December  278.6 223.5 194.0

The decommissioning provision represents the present value of decommissioning costs relating to the UK, African and Asian oil 
and gas interests, which are expected to be incurred up to 2035. During 2010 a review of all decommissioning estimates was 
undertaken by an independent specialist and the 2010 financial statements now include estimates in accordance with this study. 

Assumptions, based on the current economic environment, have been made which management believe are a reasonable basis 
upon which to estimate the future liability. These estimates are reviewed regularly to take into account any material changes to 
the assumptions. However, actual decommissioning costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary 
decommissioning works required which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of 
decommissioning is likely to depend on when the fields cease to produce at economically viable rates. This in turn will depend 
upon future oil and gas prices, which are inherently uncertain. 
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(ii) Deferred taxation 

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation
$m

Decommissioning
$m

Revaluation 
of financial 

assets
$m

Other timing 
differences 

$m 
PRT
$m

Total
$m

At 1 January 2008 (766.2) 102.5 21.1 31.1 (2.7) (614.2)
Charge/(credit) to income statement 137.0 (8.3) (5.4) (28.6) (7.1) 87.6
Credit to other comprehensive income – – (7.0) – – (7.0)
Credit directly to equity (13.7) – – – – (13.7)
Exchange differences 98.0 (50.2) – (6.6) 2.3 43.5
At 1 January 2009 (544.9) 44.0 8.7 (4.1) (7.5) (503.8)
Charge/(credit) to income statement 39.2 21.5 (2.9) 45.4 (0.2) 103.0
Credit to other comprehensive income – – (12.4) – – (12.4)
Credit directly to equity – – – 1.3 – 1.3
Exchange differences (16.0) 4.7 – 0.9 (0.8) (11.2)
At 1 January 2010 (521.7) 70.2 (6.6) 43.5 (8.5) (423.1)
Charge/(credit) to income statement (106.8) (5.3) 6.0 152.8 6.0 52.7
Credit to other comprehensive income – – 8.2 – – 8.2
Charge directly to equity – – – 3.7 – 3.7
Exchange differences 5.9 (1.9) (0.2) (0.9) 0.2 3.1

At 31 December 2010 (622.6) 63.0 7.4 199.1 (2.3) (355.4)

2010 
$m 

2009
$m

2008
$m

Deferred tax liabilities (466.1) (473.5) (503.8)
Deferred tax assets 110.7 50.4 –

No deferred tax has been provided on unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries, as the Group has no plans to remit these  
to the UK in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent it is considered probable that those assets will be recoverable. This involves an 
assessment of when those deferred tax assets are likely to reverse, and a judgement as to whether or not there will be sufficient taxable 
profits available to offset the tax assets when they do reverse. This requires assumptions regarding future profitability and is therefore 
inherently uncertain. To the extent assumptions regarding future profitability change, there can be an increase or decrease in the level 
of deferred tax assets recognised which can result in a charge or credit in the period in which the change occurs. 

TU062_P100-153_V2_pp109,114,119,133,142_ONLY.indd 133TU062_P100-153_V2_pp109,114,119,133,142_ONLY.indd   133 28/03/2011 20:4128/03/2011   20:41



134 Tullow Oil plc 2010 Annual Report and Accounts

Financial statements 
Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 21. Called up equity share capital and share premium account 
Allotted equity share capital and share premium 

Equity share capital 
allotted and fully paid 

Share
premium

 Number $m $m

Ordinary shares of Stg10p each 
At 1 January 2008 719,610,522 117.4 178.0
Issues during the year 
– Exercise of share options 6,926,931 1.3 11.1
– New shares issued in respect of royalty obligation 6,352,114 1.0 42.0
At 1 January 2009 732,889,567 119.7 231.1
Issues during the year 
– Shares issued 66,938,141 9.7 –
– Exercise of share options 4,486,268 0.7 11.2
At 1 January 2010 804,313,976 130.1 242.3
Issues during the year  
– Shares issued 82,004,589 13.1 2.1
– Exercise of share options 1,918,305 0.3 7.1

At 31 December 2010 888,236,870 143.5 251.5

Following the passing of a special resolution at the Company’s 2009 AGM, the Company no longer has an authorised share capital.

Note 22. Other reserves 

Merger 
reserve

$m

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

$m

Hedge 
 reserve 

$m 

Treasury 
shares

$m
Total

$m

At 1 January 2008 755.1 65.7 (263.6) (15.3) 541.9
Hedge movement (note 18) – – 310.5 – 310.5
Currency translation adjustment – (237.3) – – (237.3)
Vesting of PSP shares – – – 13.6 13.6
Purchase of treasury shares – – – (20.9) (20.9)
At 1 January 2009 755.1 (171.6) 46.9 (22.6) 607.8
Hedge movement (note 18) – – (43.7) – (43.7)
Currency translation adjustment – 42.0 – – 42.0
Vesting of PSP shares – – – 14.1 14.1
Purchase of treasury shares – – – (5.7) (5.7)
At 1 January 2010 755.1 (129.6) 3.2 (14.2) 614.5
Hedge movement (note 18) – – (28.9) – (28.9)
Currency translation adjustment – (11.4) – – (11.4)

At 31 December 2010 755.1 (141.0) (25.7) (14.2) (574.2)

During 2010 the Company issued 80,431,796 ordinary shares via an equity placing. In accordance with the provisions of Section 612  
of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has transferred the premium on the shares issued of $1,464.8 million ($1,432.9 million net  
of expenses) (2009: $565.0 million, $549.3 million net of expenses), using the market value at the date of acquisition, to retained 
earnings as the premium is considered to be realised.  

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange gains and losses arising on translation of foreign currency 
subsidiaries, monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor  
likely to occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign operation, and exchange gains or losses arising on long-term  
foreign currency borrowings which are a hedge against the Group’s overseas investments. 
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The hedge reserve represents gains and losses on hedging instruments classed as cash flow hedges that are determined as  
an effective hedge.  

The treasury shares reserve represents the cost of shares in Tullow Oil plc purchased in the market and held by the Tullow Oil 
Employee Trust to satisfy awards held under the Group’s share incentive plans (see note 26). 

Note 23. Non-controlling interest 
2010 

$m 
2009

$m
2008

$m

At 1 January  42.1 36.7 31.0
Share of profit for the year 18.5 5.4 5.7

At 31 December 60.6 42.1 36.7

The non-controlling interest relates to Tulipe Oil SA, where the Group acquired a 50% controlling shareholding during 2007. 

Note 24. Cash flows from operating activities 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Profit before taxation  151.9 32.5
Adjustments for:  
Depletion, depreciation and amortisation  367.3 359.2
Impairment loss 4.3 12.5
Exploration costs written off  154.7 82.7
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries – (16.0)
Profit on disposal of oil and gas assets (0.5) (4.9)
Decommissioning expenditure (10.3) (2.0)
Share-based payment charge 11.9 5.4
Loss on hedging instruments 27.7 59.8
Finance revenue  (15.1) (2.1)
Finance costs  70.1 60.8
Operating cash flow before working capital movements 762.0 587.9
Increase in trade and other receivables  (66.7) (185.9)
Increase in inventories  (29.0) (52.7)
Increase in trade payables  151.7 114.3

Cash generated from operations  818.0 463.6

Note 25. Disposal of subsidiaries 
Tullow completed the sale of Tullow Oil UK Limited incorporating the 51.68% interest in the Hewett-Bacton complex to ENI  
in November 2008, recognising a profit of $395.6 million. 

An additional $16.0 million has been recognised on this sale during 2009 following the settlement of tax and other working 
capital adjustments. 
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Note 26. Share-based payments  
2005 Performance Share Plan (PSP) 
Under the PSP, senior executives can be granted nil exercise price options (normally exercisable three to ten years following 
grant) over shares worth up to 200% of salary p.a. (300% in exceptional circumstances). Awards made before 8 March 2010  
were made as conditional awards to acquire free shares on vesting. To provide flexibility to participants, those awards have been 
converted into nil exercise price options. Awards granted in 2010 vest subject to a Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance 
condition. Half of an award is tested against constituents of the FTSE 100 index (excluding investment trusts) and the other half 
against a comparator group of oil and gas companies. Performance is measured over a fixed three-year period starting on  
1 January prior to grant, and an individual must normally remain in employment for three years from grant for the shares to  
vest. No dividends are paid over the vesting period. There are further details of PSP award measurement in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report on pages 86 to 94. 

The shares outstanding under the PSP are as follows: 

2010
PSP shares

2010 Average 
weighted share 

price at grant 
p

2009
PSP shares

2009 Average  
weighted share 

price at grant  
p 

2008
PSP shares

2008 Average 
weighted share

price at grant 
p

Outstanding at 1 January 4,305,486 687.0 3,856,913 552.9 4,451,474 293.3
Granted 1,274,971 1281.0 1,572,567 785.8 1,328,692 917.6
Exercised during the year (1,441,136) 371.2 (1,095,350) 354.1 (1,747,750) 187.5
Forfeited/expired during the year (37,445) 1120.7 (28,644) 780.3 (175,503) 365.8

Outstanding at 31 December 4,101,876 978.6 4,305,486 687.0 3,856,913 552.9

The inputs of the option valuation model 
were: 
Risk free interest rate 1.9% pa 1.9% pa 4.4%-4.7% pa
Expected volatility 52% 54% 39%-41%
Dividend yield 0.5% pa 0.8% pa 0.7%-0.8% pa

The expected life is the period from date of grant to vesting. Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over a period commensurate with the expected life of the awards. The weighted average 
fair value of the awards granted in 2010 was 700.8p per award (2009: 579.9p). 

The Group recognised a total charge of $12.6 million (2009: $9.4 million) in respect of the PSP. 

2005 Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSBP) 
Under the DSBP, the portion of any annual bonus above 75% of the base salary (60% for bonuses paid for 2007 and earlier years) 
of a senior executive nominated by the Remuneration Committee is deferred into shares. Awards normally vest following the end 
of three financial years commencing with that in which they are granted. They are granted as nil exercise price options, normally 
exercisable from when they vest until 10 years from grant. Awards granted before 8 March 2010 as conditional awards to acquire 
free shares have been converted into nil exercise price options to provide flexibility to participants. 

The shares outstanding under the DSBP are as follows: 

2010
DSBP shares

2010
Share price 

at grant p 
2009

DSBP shares

2009 
Share price  

at grant p  
2008

DSBP shares

2008
Share price 

at grant

Outstanding at 1 January 231,457 716.3 200,633 507.9 184,254 375.4p
Granted 92,939 1281.0 135,291 778.0 96,166 629.5p
Exercised during the year (22,445) 629.5 (104,467) 396.0 (79,787) 348.5p
Outstanding at 31 December 301,951 896.6 231,457 716.3 200,633 507.9p

The inputs of the option valuation model 
were: 
Dividend yield 0.5% pa 1.0% pa 1.0% pa

The expected life is the period from the date of grant to the vesting date. The fair value of the awards granted in 2010 was 
1,263.1p per award (2009: 760.2p). 

The Group recognised a total charge of $1.3 million (2009: $0.8 million) in respect of the DSBP. 
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2000 Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS) 
The only share option scheme operated by the Company during the year was the 2000 ESOS. Options normally only become 
exercisable from the third anniversary of the date of the grant and if the performance condition has been met. The awards are 
tested against constituents of an index and 100% of awards will vest if the Company’s TSR is above the median of the index over
three years following grant. For awards from March 2008 the Index is the FTSE 100 index (excluding investment trusts); for 
awards before March 2008, the Index is the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment trusts).  

Options granted under the previous 1998 ESOS had all been exercised at 31 December 2009. All awards under the 1998 ESOS 
were made prior to 7 November 2002 and therefore, under the IFRS transitional provisions, they have not been accounted for  
in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-based payments. 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options 
under the 2000 ESOS during the year. 

2010
Number

2010
WAEP

p
2009

Number

2009 
WAEP 

p 
2008

Number

2008
WAEP

p

Outstanding as at 1 January 13,257,841 436.6 14,688,105 282.1 19,216,684 166.0
Granted during the year 2,814,218 1274.33 3,155,150 781.0 2,475,251 647.3
Exercised during the year (1,918,305) 247.83 (4,486,268) 168.4 (6,926,931) 91.5
Forfeited/expired during the year (211,785) 939.04 (99,146) 643.1 (76,899) 210.4

Outstanding at 31 December 13,941,969 623.87 13,257,841 436.6 14,688,105 282.1

Exercisable at 31 December 6,062,182 246.13 5,700,412 177.8 7,971,074 121.5

The weighted average share price at exercise for options exercised in 2010 was 1,231.9p (2009: 1,000.5p).  

Options outstanding at 31 December 2010 had exercise prices of 79p to 1,299.9p (2009: 63.0p to 1,179.0p) and remaining 
contractual lives of 1 to 10 years.  

The fair values were calculated using a proprietary binomial valuation model. The principal inputs to the options valuation  
model were: 

Risk-free interest rate 1.8-2.5% pa
Expected volatility 49%
Dividend yield 0.5% pa
Employee turnover 5% pa 
Early exercise At rates dependent upon potential gain from exercise

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over a period commensurate with 
the expected lifetime of the awards.  

The fair values and expected lives of the options valued in accordance with IFRS 2 were: 

Award date 

Weighted 
average  
exercise  

price 
p 

Weighted 
average 

fair 
value

p

Weighted 
average 

expected 
life from 

grant date 
years

Jan – Dec 2007 396.9 123.4 4.8
Jan – Dec 2008 647.3 205.8 4.3
Jan – Dec 2009 781.0 283.5 4.0
Jan – Dec 2010 1274.3 456.2 4.3

The Group recognised a total charge of $11.5 million (2009: $7.6 million) in respect of the ESOS. 
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 26. Share-based payments continued
UK & Irish Share Incentive Plans (SIPs) 
These are all-employee plans set up in the UK and Ireland, to enable employees to save out of salary up to prescribed monthly 
limits. Contributions are used by the Plan trustees to buy Tullow shares (‘Partnership Shares’) at the end of each three-month 
accumulation period. The Company makes a matching contribution to acquire Tullow shares (‘Matching Shares’) on a one-for-
one basis. Matching Shares are subject to time-based forfeiture over three years on leaving employment in certain 
circumstances or if the related Partnership Shares are sold. 

The fair value of a Matching Share is its market value at the start of the accumulation period. 

For the UK plan, Partnership Shares are purchased at the lower of the market values at the start of the Accumulation Period and
the purchase date (which is treated as a three-month share option for IFRS 2 purposes). For the Irish plan, shares are bought at 
the market price at the purchase date which does not result in any IFRS 2 accounting charge. 

Matching shares vest three years after grant and dividends are paid to the employee during this period. 

The Group recognised a total charge of $0.2 million (2009: $0.2 million) for the UK SIP Plan and $0.2 million (2009: $0.2 million) 
for the Irish SIP plan. 

Note 27. Operating lease arrangements 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in income for the year 6.5 3.8

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

2010
$m

2009
$m

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 
Due within one year 17.1 12.3
After one year but within two years 16.3 19.3
After two years but within five years 23.2 11.9
Due after five years 66.8 –

123.4 43.5

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties and a lease for an FPSO 
vessel for use on the Chinguetti field in Mauritania. Leases on office properties are negotiated for an average of six years and 
rentals are fixed for an average of six years. The FPSO lease runs for a minimum period of seven years from February 2006  
and the contract provides for an option to extend the lease for a further three years at a slightly reduced rate. 

Note 28. Capital commitments 
Capital commitments as at 31 December 2010 are $876.3 million (2009: $1,270.0 million, 2008: $877.7 million). 

Note 29. Contingent liabilities 
At 31 December 2010 there existed contingent liabilities amounting to $221.0 million (2009: $239.4 million, 2008: $106.1 million) in 
respect of performance guarantees for abandonment obligations, committed work programmes and certain financial obligations. 
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Note 30. Related party transactions 
The Directors of Tullow Oil plc are considered to be the only key management personnel as defined by IAS 24 – Related  
Party Disclosures.  

2010
$m

2009
$m

Short-term employee benefits 7.0 6.8
Post employment benefits 0.9 0.5
Amounts awarded under long-term incentive schemes 1.4 1.9
Share-based payments 5.6 4.4

14.9 13.6

Short-term employee benefits 
These amounts comprise fees paid to the Directors in respect of salary and benefits earned during the relevant financial year, 
plus bonuses awarded for the year. 

Post employment benefits 
These amounts comprise amounts paid into the pension schemes of the Directors. 

Amounts awarded under long-term incentive schemes 
These amounts relate to the shares granted under the annual bonus scheme that is deferred for three years under the Deferred 
Share Bonus Plan (DSBP). 

Share-based payments 
This is the cost to the Group of Directors’ participation in share-based payment plans, as measured by the fair value of options 
and shares granted, accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-based Payments. 

There are no other related party transactions. Further details regarding transactions with the Directors of Tullow Oil plc are 
disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 86 to 94. 

Note 31. Subsequent events 
Since the balance sheet date Tullow has continued to progress its exploration, development and business growth strategies. 

In January 2011 the Group announced the Tweneboa-3 appraisal well in the Deepwater Tano licence offshore Ghana had successfully
encountered gas condensate in excellent high quality sandstone reservoirs. The results of drilling, wireline logs and samples of 
reservoir fluids, together with the well’s down-dip position, confirm the Greater Tweneboa Area resource base potential. 

In March 2011 the Group announced the Enyenra-2A appraisal well in the Deepwater Tano licence offshore Ghana had 
successfully encountered oil in excellent quality sandstone reservoirs. Good evidence of communication with Owo-1 confirms 
that the Owo oil discovery, now renamed Enyenra, is a major light oil field. 

Note 32. Pension schemes 
The Group operates defined contribution pension schemes for staff and Executive Directors. The contributions are payable 
to external funds which are administered by independent trustees. Contributions during the year amounted to $4.5 million 
(2009: $5.2 million). At 31 December 2010, there was a liability of $0.3 million (2009: $1.0 million) for contributions payable
included in creditors. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the members of Tullow Oil plc 

We have audited the Parent Company financial statements of 
Tullow Oil plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 which 
comprise the balance sheet, the accounting policies and the 
related notes 1 to 13. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as  
a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Company’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities 
statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the Parent Company financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility 
is to audit and express an opinion on the Parent Company 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Parent Company’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the Parent Company financial statements:  

• Give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs 
as at 31 December 2010; 

• Have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and  

• Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements  
of the Companies Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies  
Act 2006 
In our opinion: 

• The part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited 
has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006; and 

• The information given in the Directors’ report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the Parent Company financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 
in our opinion: 

• Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have  
not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• The Parent Company financial statements and the part of 
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not  
in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• Certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified  
by law are not made; or 

• We have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit. 

Other matter 
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements  
of Tullow Oil plc for the year ended 31 December 2010. 

Matthew Donaldson (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors  
London, UK 

8 March 2011 
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Company balance sheet 
As at 31 December 2010 

Notes 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Fixed assets 
Investments 1 3,433.8 1,828.0
Deferred tax assets 3 41.4 38.9

3,475.2 1,866.9

Current assets 
Debtors 4 2,349.2 1,962.4
Cash at bank and in hand 23.3 13.3

2,372.5 1,975.7

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 
Trade and other creditors 5 (31.1) (18.1)
Bank loans 6 (309.8) –

(340.9) (18.1)

Net current assets  2,031.6 1,957.6

Total assets less current liabilities 5,506.8 3,824.5

Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 
Bank loans 6 (1,890.0) (1,314.7)
Loans from subsidiary undertakings 7 (1.1) (249.0)

Net assets 3,615.7 2,260.8

Capital and reserves 
Called up equity share capital 8 143.5 130.1
Share premium account 8 251.5 242.3
Other reserves 10 850.8 850.8
Profit and loss account 9 2,369.9 1,037.6

Shareholders’ funds 9 3,615.7 2,260.8

Approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 8 March 2011.  

Aidan Heavey Ian Springett
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 
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Financial statements 
Notes to the Company financial statements  
Year ended 31 December 2010 

(a) Basis of accounting  
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and 
UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP). The 
following paragraphs describe the main accounting policies 
under UK GAAP which have been applied consistently.  

In light of the ever-increasing operations of the Group being 
conducted in US dollars and the majority of the Group’s 
external funding being provided in US dollars the Directors 
have reviewed the functional currency of Tullow Oil plc 
(Company only) and have concluded that it is appropriate for 
the functional currency of the Company to be converted from 
sterling to US dollars (effective date of 1 January 2010).  

In addition the Directors have deemed it appropriate to change 
the presentational currency of the Company from sterling to 
US dollars effective from 1 January 2010. 

These are the first financial statements to be presented in  
US dollars and all comparative information has been restated 
in accordance with the requirements set out in FRS 23,  
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates with 
respect to translation of results to presentational currency: 

a. assets and liabilities denominated in non-US dollar 
currencies were translated into US dollars at the closing 
rate prevailing at the balance sheet dates; 

b. non-US dollar income and expenses were translated into 
US dollars at an exchange rate which approximates to the 
exchange rate ruling at the date of transactions; and 

c. all resulting exchange rate differences have been 
recognised in other comprehensive income, within the 
foreign currency translation reserve.  

In accordance with the provisions of Section 408 of the 
Companies Act, the profit and loss account of the Company is 
not presented separately. During the year the Company made 
a loss of $47.1 million. In accordance with the exemptions 
available under FRS 1 ‘Cash Flow Statements’, the Company 
has not presented a cash flow statement as the cash flow of 
the Company has been included in the cash flow statement  
of Tullow Oil plc Group set out on page 105. 

In accordance with the exemptions available under FRS 8 
‘Related party transactions’, the Company has not separately 
presented related party transactions with other Group companies. 

The Company closely monitors and manages its liquidity risk. 
Cash forecasts are regularly produced and sensitivities run for 
different scenarios including, but not limited to, changes in 
commodity prices, different production rates from the Group’s 
portfolio of producing fields and delays in development projects. 
The Company normally seeks to ensure that it has a minimum 
ongoing capacity of $500 million for a period of at least 12 
months to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. 

The major assumption in current cash flow forecasts is that 
the receipt of disposal proceeds from the Uganda farm-down, 
which has been delayed longer than expected, will now be 
received in Q2 2011. On this basis, the Company’s forecasts, 
taking into account reasonably possible changes as described 
above, show that the Company will be able to operate within its 
current debt facilities and have very significant financial 
headroom for the 12 months from the date of the approval of 
the 2010 Annual Report and Accounts. However, in the unlikely 
event that the Ugandan farm-down process is delayed beyond 

Q2 2011, the Directors are confident that the Company can 
manage its financial affairs, including the securing of 
additional funding, agreement with existing lenders, portfolio 
management and deferring of non-essential capital 
expenditure, so as to ensure that sufficient funding remains 
available for the next 12 months. 

After taking account of the above, the Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Company has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Annual Report and Accounts. 

(b) Investments 
Fixed asset investments, including investments in subsidiaries, 
are stated at cost and reviewed for impairment if there are 
indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

(c) Finance costs and debt 
Finance costs of debt are allocated to periods over the term of 
the related debt at a constant rate on the carrying amount.  

Interest-bearing bank loans are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including 
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue 
costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis in the profit and 
loss account using the effective interest method and are added to 
the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are 
not settled in the period in which they arise. 

(d) Financial liabilities and equity 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified 
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 
all of its liabilities. 

(e) Foreign currencies 
The US dollar is the reporting currency of the Company. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of 
exchange ruling at the transaction date. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
US dollars at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date, with a corresponding charge or credit to the profit and loss 
account. However, exchange gains and losses arising on long-
term foreign currency borrowings, which are a hedge against the 
Company’s overseas investments, are dealt with in reserves. 

(f) Share issue expenses  
Costs of share issues are written off against the premium 
arising on the issues of share capital. 

(g) Taxation 
Current and deferred tax, including UK corporation tax, is 
provided at amounts expected to be paid using the tax rates 
and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by 
the balance sheet date. 

(h) Share-based payments 
The Company has applied the requirements of FRS 20  
Share-based Payments. In accordance with the transitional 
provisions of that standard, only those awards that were 
granted after 7 November 2002, and had not vested at  
1 January 2005, are included. 

All share-based awards of the Company are equity settled 
as defined by FRS 20. The fair value of these awards has  
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been determined at the date of grant of the award allowing for 
the effect of any market-based performance conditions. This 
fair value, adjusted by the Company’s estimate of the number 
of awards that will eventually vest as a result of non-market 
conditions, is expensed uniformly over the vesting period. 

The fair values were calculated using a binomial option pricing 
model with suitable modifications to allow for employee turnover 
after vesting and early exercise. Where necessary this model was 
supplemented with a Monte Carlo model. The inputs to the 
models include: the share price at date of grant; exercise price; 
expected volatility; expected dividends; risk free rate of interest; 
and patterns of exercise of the plan participants. 

(i) Capital management 
The Company defines capital as the total equity of the Company. 
Capital is managed in order to provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits to stakeholders and to safeguard the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Tullow is not subject to any 
externally-imposed capital requirements. To maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital, issue new shares for 
cash, repay debt, and put in place new debt facilities.  
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Financial statements 
Notes to the Company financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Note 1. Investments 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Shares at cost in subsidiary undertakings 3,432.8 1,827.0
Unlisted investments 1.0 1.0

3,433.8 1,828.0

The increase in the year is attributable to additional investments in the Company’s subsidiary companies.  

Principal subsidiary undertakings 
At 31 December 2010 the Company’s principal subsidiary undertakings were: 

Name %  Country of operation Country of registration 

Directly held    
Tullow Oil SK Limited 100  United Kingdom  England & Wales 
Tullow Oil SPE Limited 100  United Kingdom  England & Wales 
Tullow Group Services Limited 100  United Kingdom England & Wales 
Tullow Oil Limited 100  Ireland Ireland  
Tullow Overseas Holdings B.V. 100  Netherlands Netherlands 
Tullow Gabon Holdings Limited (50% held indirectly) 100  Gabon Isle of Man 

Indirectly held     
Tullow (EA) Holdings Limited 100  Isle of Man British Virgin Islands 
Tullow Oil International Limited 100  Channel Islands  Jersey  
Tullow Pakistan (Developments) Limited 100  Pakistan  Jersey  
Tullow Bangladesh Limited 100  Bangladesh  Jersey  
Tullow Côte d’Ivoire Limited 100  Côte d’Ivoire  Jersey  
Tullow Côte d’Ivoire Exploration Limited 100  Côte d’Ivoire  Jersey  
Tullow Ghana Limited 100  Ghana Jersey 
Tullow Kenya B.V. 100  Kenya Netherlands 
Tullow Ethiopia B.V. 100  Ethiopia Netherlands 
Tullow Tanzania B.V. 100  Tanzania Netherlands 
Tullow Netherlands B.V. 100  Netherlands Netherlands 
Tullow Guyane B.V. 100  Guyana Netherlands 
Tullow Liberia B.V. 100  Liberia Netherlands 
Tullow Sierra Leone B.V. 100  Sierra Leone Netherlands 
Tullow Suriname B.V. 100  Suriname Netherlands 
Tullow Congo Limited  100  Congo Isle of Man 
Tullow Equatorial Guinea Limited 100  Equatorial Guinea Isle of Man 
Tullow Kudu Limited  100  Namibia Isle of Man 
Tullow Uganda Limited  100  Uganda Isle of Man 
Tullow Oil Gabon SA 100  Gabon Gabon 
Tulipe Oil SA* 50  Gabon Gabon 
Tullow Chinguetti Production (Pty) Limited 100  Mauritania Australia 
Tullow Petroleum (Mauritania) (Pty) Limited 100  Mauritania Australia 
Tullow Oil (Mauritania) Limited 100  Mauritania Guernsey 
Tullow Uganda Operations (Pty) Limited 100  Uganda Australia 
Tullow Hardman Holdings B.V. 100  Netherlands Netherlands 
Tullow South Africa (Pty) Limited 100  South Africa South Africa 
Hardman Petroleum France SAS 100  French Guiana France  

The principal activity of all companies relates to oil and gas exploration, development and production. 

* The Company is deemed to control Tulipe Oil SA in accordance with FRS 2 as it has a majority of the voting rights on the board of Tulipe Oil SA. 
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The Company is required to assess the carrying values of each of its investments in subsidiaries for impairment. The net assets
of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are predominantly intangible exploration and evaluation (E&E) assets. Where facts and 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an E&E asset held by a subsidiary may exceed its recoverable amount, by reference 
to the specific indicators of impairment of E&E assets, an impairment test of the asset is performed by the subsidiary undertaking and 
the asset is impaired by any difference between its carrying value and its recoverable amount. The recognition of such an impairment by 
a subsidiary is used by the Company as the primary basis for determining whether or not there are indications that the investment in the 
related subsidiary may also be impaired, and thus whether an impairment test of the investment carrying value needs to be performed. 
The results of exploration activities are inherently uncertain, and the assessment for impairment of E&E assets by the subsidiary, and 
that of the related investment by the Company, is judgemental. 

Note 2. Dividends 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Declared and paid during year 
Final dividend for 2009: Stg4.0p (2008: Stg4.0p) per ordinary share 51.6 50.2
Interim dividend for 2010: Stg2.0p (2009: Stg2.0p) per ordinary share 27.6 25.1

Dividends paid 79.2 75.3

Proposed for approval by shareholders at the AGM 
Final dividend for 2010: Stg4.0p (2009: Stg4.0p) 54.9 51.3

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as  
a liability in these financial statements. 

Note 3. Deferred tax 
The Company has tax losses of $147.8 million (2009: $136.4 million) that are available indefinitely for offset against future  
non-ring-fence taxable profits in the Company. A deferred tax asset of $41.4million (2009: $38.9 million) has been recognised  
in respect of these losses on the basis that the Company anticipates making non-ring-fence profits in the foreseeable future. 

Note 4. Debtors 
Amounts falling due within one year 

2010
$m

2009
$m

Other debtors 2.9 4.4
Due from subsidiary undertakings 2,346.3 1,958.0

2,349.2 1,962.4

The amounts due from subsidiary undertakings include $2,118.5 million (2009: $292.1 million) that incurs interest at LIBOR  
plus 1.7%-2.7%. The remaining amounts due from subsidiaries accrue no interest. All amounts are repayable on demand. 

Note 5. Trade and other creditors 
Amounts falling due within one year 

2010
$m

2009
$m

Other creditors 4.5 6.1
Accruals 26.6 11.8
VAT – 0.2

31.1 18.1
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Note 6. Bank loans 
2010

$m
2009

$m

Current 
Short-term borrowings 309.8 –

Non-current 
Term loans repayable 
– After one year but within two years 192.5 989.0
– After two years but within five years 1,697.5 325.7

1,890.0 1,314.7

Company bank loans are stated net of unamortised arrangement fees of $81.3 million (2009: $81.6 million). 

Term loans and guarantees are secured by fixed and floating charges over the oil and gas assets (note 10) of the Group 
financial statements.  

Interest rate risk 
The interest rate profile of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2010 was as follows: 

The profile at 31 December 2009 for comparison purposes was as follows: 

Cash at bank at floating interest rate consisted of deposits which earn interest at rates set in advance for periods ranging  
from overnight to one month by reference to market rates. 

Floating rate debt comprises bank borrowings at interest rates fixed in advance from overnight to three months at rates 
determined by US dollar LIBOR and sterling LIBOR. Fixed rate debt comprises bank borrowings at interest rates fixed in  
advance for periods greater than three months or bank borrowings where the interest rate has been fixed through  
interest rate hedging.  

The $2.5 billion Reserves Based Lending Facility incurs interest on outstanding debt at sterling or US dollar LIBOR plus  
an applicable margin. The outstanding debt is repayable in variable amounts (determined semi-annually) over the period to  
31 December 2015, or such time as is determined by reference to the remaining reserves of the assets, whichever is earlier.  

The $650 million Revolving Credit Facility is repayable in full on 31 December 2011. The facility incurs interest on outstanding 
debt at US dollar LIBOR plus an applicable margin.  

At the end of December 2010, the headroom under the two facilities amounted to $685 million; $175 million under the $2.5 billion 
Reserves Based Lending Facility and $510 million under the Revolving Credit Facility. At the end of December 2009, the 
headroom under the two facilities was $620 million; $370 million under the $2 billion Reserves Based Lending Facility and  
$250 million under the Revolving Corporate Facility.  

$ 
$m 

Stg
$m

Total
$m

Fixed rate debt (386.4) (158.4) (544.8)
Floating rate debt (1,655.0) – (1,655.0)
Cash at bank at floating interest rate 20.6 2.7 23.3
Amounts due from subsidiaries at LIBOR + 1.7% 2,118.5 – 2,118.5

Net cash/(debt) 97.7 (155.7) (58.0)

$ 
$m 

Stg
$m

Total
$m

Fixed rate debt (544.8) – (544.8)
Floating rate debt (710.9) (58.9) (769.8)
Cash at bank at floating interest rate 13.1 0.2 13.3
Amounts due from subsidiaries at LIBOR + 1.7% – 292.1 292.1

Net cash/(debt) (1,242.6) 233.4 (1,009.2)
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The Group is exposed to floating rate interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at floating interest rates. The Group hedges 
its floating rate interest rate exposure on an ongoing basis through the use of interest rate derivatives, namely interest rate swaps, 
interest rate collars and interest rate caps. The mark-to-market position of the Group’s interest rate portfolio as at 31 December 2010 
was $13.6 million out of the money (2009: $8.9 million out of the money, 2008: $3.0 million out of the money). The interest rate hedges 
are included in the fixed rate debt in 2010, in the above table, and also included in the fixed rate debt in 2009 and 2008. 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting 
date are net liabilities of $164.0 million (2009: net liabilities of $1,337 million). 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis  
The Company is mainly exposed to fluctuations in the US dollar. The Company measures its market risk exposure by running 
various sensitivity analyses including 20% favourable and adverse changes in the key variables. The sensitivity analyses include 
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjust their translation at the period end for a 20% change in
foreign currency rates. 

As at 31 December 2010, a 20% increase in foreign exchange rates against the US dollar would have resulted in a decrease in 
foreign currency denominated liabilities of $27.3 million (2009: $226.7 million) and a 20% decrease in foreign exchange rates 
against the US dollar would have resulted in an increase in foreign currency denominated liabilities and equity of $32.8 million 
(2009: $339.9 million). 

Note 7. Loans from subsidiary undertakings 
Amounts falling due after more than one year 

2010
$m

2009
$m

Loans from subsidiary companies 1.1 249.0

The amounts due from subsidiaries do not accrue interest. All loans from subsidiary companies are not due to be repaid within  
five years. 

Note 8. Called up equity share capital and share premium account 
Allotted equity share capital and share premium 

Equity share  
capital allotted  

and fully paid 
Number 

Share
 Capital

$m 

Share
premium

$m 

At 1 January 2009 732,889,567 119.7 231.1
Issues during the year 
– Exercise of share options 4,486,268 0.7 11.2
– New shares issued  66,938,141 9.7 –
At 1 January 2010 804,313,976 130.1 242.3
Issues during the year 
– Exercise of share options 
– New shares issued 

1,918,305 
82,004,589 

0.3
13.1

7.1
2.1

At 31 December 2010 888,236,870 143.5 251.5

Following the passing of a special resolution at the Company’s 2009 AGM, the Company no longer has an authorised share capital.
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Note 9. Shareholders’ funds 

During 2010 the Company issued 80,431,796 ordinary shares via an equity placing. In accordance with the provisions of Section 612 of 
the Companies Act 2006, the Company has transferred the premium on the shares issued of $1,464.8 million ($1,432.9 million net of 
expenses) (2009: $565.0 million, $549.3 million net of expenses), using the market value at the date of acquisition, to retained earnings 
as the premium is considered to be realised.  

Note 10. Other reserves  

Merger 
reserve

$m

Treasury 
shares 

$m 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

$m
Total

$m

At 1 January 2009 671.6 (22.6) 140.6 789.6
Purchase of treasury shares – (5.7) – (5.7)
Vesting of PSP shares – 14.1 – 14.1
Currency translation adjustment – – 52.8 52.8
At 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 671.6 (14.2) 193.4 850.8

The treasury shares reserve represents the cost of shares in Tullow Oil plc purchased in the market and held by the Tullow Oil 
Employee Trust to satisfy options held under the Group’s share incentive plans (see note 11). 

Share capital
$m 

Share 
premium

$m

Other 
reserves 
(note 10) 

$m 

Profit and 
loss account

$m 
Total

$m

At 1 January 2009 119.7 231.1 789.6 582.2 1,722.6
Total recognised income and expense for the year  – – – (22.8) (22.8)
Issue of share capital 9.7 – – 549.3 559.0
Purchase of treasury shares – – (5.7) – (5.7)
New shares issued in respect of employee share options  0.7 11.2 – – 11.9
Vesting of PSP shares – – 14.1 (14.1) –
Share-based payment charges  – – – 18.3 18.3
Dividends paid – – – (75.3) (75.3)
Translation reserve – – 52.8 – 52.8
At 1 January 2010 130.1 242.3 850.8 1,037.6 2,260.8
Total recognised income and expense for the year  – – – (47.1) (47.1)
Issue of share capital 13.1 2.1 – 1,432.9 1,448.1
New shares issued in respect of employee share options  0.3 7.1 – – 7.4
Vesting of PSP shares – – – (0.2) (0.2)
Share-based payment charges  – – – 25.9 25.9
Dividends paid – – – (79.2) (79.2)

At 31 December 2010 143.5 251.5 850.8 2,369.9 3,615.7
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Note 11. Share-based payments 
2005 Performance Share Plan (PSP) 
Under the PSP, senior executives can be granted nil exercise price options (normally exercisable three to ten years following 
grant) over shares worth up to 200% of salary p.a. (300% in exceptional circumstances). Awards made before 8 March 2010  
were made as conditional awards to acquire free shares on vesting. To provide flexibility to participants, those awards have been 
converted into nil exercise price options. Awards granted in 2010 vest subject to a Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance 
condition. Half of an award is tested against constituents of the FTSE 100 index (excluding investment trusts) and the other  
half against a comparator group of oil and gas companies. Performance is measured over a fixed three-year period starting  
on 1 January prior to grant, and an individual must normally remain in employment for three years from grant for the shares  
to vest. No dividends are paid over the vesting period. There are further details of PSP award measurement in the Directors’ 
remuneration report on pages 86 to 94. 

The shares outstanding under the PSP are as follows: 

2010
PSP shares

2010 Average 
weighted share 

price at grant 
p

2009
PSP shares

2009 Average  
weighted share 

price at grant  
p 

2008 
PSP shares 

2008 Average 
weighted share

price at grant 
p

Outstanding at 1 January 4,305,486 687.0 3,856,913 552.9 4,451,474 293.3
Granted 1,274,971 1281.0 1,572,567 785.8 1,328,692 917.6
Exercised during the year (1,441,136) 371.2 (1,095,350) 354.1 (1,747,750) 187.5
Forfeited/expired during the year (37,445) 1120.7 (28,644) 780.3 (175,503) 365.8

Outstanding at 31 December 4,101,876 978.6 4,305,486 687.0 3,856,913 552.9

The inputs of the option valuation model 
were: 
Risk free interest rate 1.9% pa 1.9% pa  4.4%-4.7% pa
Expected volatility 52% 54%  39%-41%
Dividend yield 0.5% pa 0.8% pa  0.7%-0.8% pa

The expected life is the period from date of grant to vesting. Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over a period commensurate with the expected life of the awards. The weighted average 
fair value of the awards granted in 2010 was 700.8p per award (2009: 579.9p). 

The Company recognised a total charge of $12.6million (2009: $9.4 million) in respect of the PSP. 

2005 Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSBP) 
Under the DSBP, the portion of any annual bonus above 75% of the base salary (60% for bonuses paid for 2007 and earlier years) 
of a senior executive nominated by the Remuneration Committee is deferred into shares. Awards normally vest following the end 
of three financial years commencing with that in which they are granted. They are granted as nil exercise price options, normally 
exercisable from when they vest until 10 years from grant. Awards granted before 8 March 2010 as conditional awards to acquire 
free shares have been converted into nil exercise price options to provide flexibility to participants. 

The shares outstanding under the DSBP are as follows: 

2010
DSBP shares

2010
Share price 

at grant p 
2009

DSBP shares

2009 
Share price  

at grant p  
2008 

DSBP shares 

2008
Share price 

at grant

Outstanding at 1 January 231,457 716.3 200,633 507.9 184,254 375.4
Granted 92,939 1281.0 135,291 778.0 96,166 629.5
Exercised during the year (22,445) 629.5 (104,467) 396.0 (79,787) 348.5

Outstanding at 31 December 301,951 896.6 231,457 716.3 200,633 507.9

The inputs of the option valuation model 
were: 
Dividend yield 0.5% pa 1.0% pa  1.0% pa

The expected life is the period from the date of grant to the vesting date. The fair value of the awards granted in 2010 was 
1,263.1p per award (2009: 760.2p). 

The Company recognised a total charge of $1.3 million (2009: $0.8 million) in respect of the DSBP. 
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Note 11. Share-based payments (continued) 
2000 Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS) 
The only share option scheme operated by the Company during the year was the 2000 ESOS. Options normally only become 
exercisable from the third anniversary of the date of the grant and if the performance condition has been met. The awards are 
tested against constituents of an index and 100% of awards will vest if the Company’s TSR is above the median of the index over
three years following grant. For awards from March 2008 the Index is the FTSE 100 index (excluding investment trusts); for 
awards before March 2008, the Index is the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment trusts).  

Options granted under the previous 1998 ESOS had all been exercised at 31 December 2009. All awards under the 1998 ESOS 
were made prior to 7 November 2002 and therefore, under the FRS transitional provisions, they have not been accounted for in 
accordance with FRS 20 – Share-based Payments. 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options 
under the 2000 ESOS during the year. 

2010
Number

2010
WAEP

p
2009

Number

2009 
WAEP 

p 
2008

Number

2008
WAEP

p

Outstanding as at 1 January 13,257,841 436.6 14,688,105 282.1 19,216,684 166.0
Granted during the year 2,814,218 1274.33 3,155,150 781.0 2,475,251 647.3
Exercised during the year (1,918,305) 247.83 (4,486,268) 168.4 (6,926,931) 91.5
Forfeited/expired during the year (211,785) 939.04 (99,146) 643.1 (76,899) 210.4

Outstanding at 31 December 13,941,969 623.87 13,257,841 436.6 14,688,105 282.1

Exercisable at 31 December 6,062,182 246.13 5,700,412 177.8 7,971,074 121.5

The weighted average share price at exercise for options exercised in 2010 was 1,231.9p (2009: 1,000.5p).  

Options outstanding at 31 December 2010 had exercise prices of 79p to 1,299.9p (2009: 63.0p to 1,179.0p) and remaining 
contractual lives of 1 to 10 years.  

The fair values were calculated using a proprietary binomial valuation model. The principal inputs to the options valuation model were: 

Risk free interest rate 1.8-2.5% pa
Expected volatility 49%
Dividend yield 0.5% pa
Employee turnover 5% pa 
Early exercise At rates dependent upon potential gain from exercise

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over a period commensurate  
with the expected lifetime of the awards.  

The fair values and expected lives of the options valued in accordance with FRS 20 were: 

Award date 

Weighted 
average  
exercise  

price 
p 

Weighted 
average 

fair 
value

p

Weighted 
average 

expected 
life from 

grant date 
years

Jan – Dec 2007 396.9 123.4 4.8
Jan – Dec 2008 647.3 205.8 4.3
Jan – Dec 2009 781.0 283.5 4.0
Jan – Dec 2010 1274.3 456.2 4.3

The Company recognised a total charge of $11.5 million (2009: $7.6 million) in respect of the ESOS. 
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UK & Irish Share Incentive Plans (SIPs) 
These are all-employee plans set up in the UK and Ireland, to enable employees to save out of salary up to prescribed monthly 
limits. Contributions are used by the Plan trustees to buy Tullow shares (‘Partnership Shares’) at the end of each three-month 
accumulation period. The Company makes a matching contribution to acquire Tullow shares (‘Matching Shares’) on a one-for-
one basis. Matching Shares are subject to time-based forfeiture over three years on leaving employment in certain 
circumstances or if the related Partnership Shares are sold. 

The fair value of a Matching Share is its market value at the start of the accumulation period. 

For the UK plan, Partnership Shares are purchased at the lower of the market values at the start of the Accumulation Period  
and the purchase date (which is treated as a three-month share option for FRS 20 purposes). For the Irish plan, shares are 
bought at the market price at the purchase date which does not result in any FRS 20 accounting charge. 

Matching Shares vest three years after grant and dividends are paid to the employee during this period. 

The Company recognised a total charge of $0.2 million (2009: $0.2 million) for the UK SIP Plan and $0.2 million (2009: $0.2 
million) for the Irish SIP plan. 

Note 12. Related party transactions 
The Directors of Tullow Oil plc are considered to be the only key management personnel as defined by FRS 8 – Related  
Party Disclosures.  

2010
Sm

2009
Sm

Short-term employee benefits 7.0 6.8
Post employment benefits 0.9 0.5
Amounts awarded under long-term incentive schemes 1.4 1.9
Share-based payments 5.6 4.4

14.9 13.6

Short-term employee benefits 
These amounts comprise fees paid to the Directors in respect of salary and benefits earned during the relevant financial year, 
plus bonuses awarded for the year. 

Post employment benefits 
These amounts comprise amounts paid into the pension schemes of the Directors. 

Amounts awarded under long-term incentive schemes 
These amounts relate to the shares granted under the annual bonus scheme that is deferred for three years under the Deferred 
Share Bonus Plan (DSBP). 

Share-based payments 
This is the cost to the Group of Directors’ participation in share-based payment plans, as measured by the fair value of options 
and shares granted accounted for in accordance with FRS 20, Share-based Payments. 

There are no other related party transactions. Further details regarding transactions with the Directors of Tullow Oil plc are 
disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 86 to 94. 

Note 13. Subsequent events 
Since the balance sheet date Tullow has continued to progress its exploration, development and business growth strategies. 

In January 2011 the Group announced the Tweneboa-3 appraisal well in the Deepwater Tano licence offshore Ghana had successfully
encountered gas condensate in excellent high quality sandstone reservoirs. The results of drilling, wireline logs and samples of 
reservoir fluids, together with the well’s down-dip position, confirms the Greater Tweneboa Area resource base potential. 

In March 2011 the Group announced the Enyenra-2A appraisal well in the Deepwater Tano licence offshore Ghana had 
successfully encountered oil in excellent quality sandstone reservoirs. Good evidence of communication with Owo-1 confirms 
that the Owo oil discovery, now renamed Enyenra, is a major light oil field. 
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Five year financial summary 

2010
$m

2009
$m

2008 
$m 

2007 
(as restated*)

$m
2006

$m

Group income statement 
Sales revenue 1,089.8 915.9 1,310.6 1,279.5 1,066.7
Cost of sales (611.4) (625.5) (687.3) (708.0) (481.6)

Gross profit 478.4 290.4 623.3 571.5 585.1
Administrative expenses (89.6) (77.6) (79.2) (63.3) (41.5)
Profit/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries – 16.0 395.6 (1.2) –
Profit on disposal of oil and gas assets 0.5 4.9 57.8 – –
Exploration costs written off (154.7) (82.7) (419.0) (128.5) (59.8)

Operating profit 234.6 151.0 578.5 378.5 483.8
(Loss)/profit on hedging instruments (27.7) (59.8) 66.6 (58.7) 28.9
Finance revenue 15.1 2.1 7.3 6.2 5.5
Finance costs (70.1) (60.8) (87.5) (97.4) (33.1)

Profit from continuing activities before taxation 151.9 32.5 564.9 228.6 485.1
Taxation  (79.4) (1.9) (135.7) (123.3) (195.2)

Profit for the year from continuing activities 72.5 30.6 429.2 105.3 289.9

Earnings per share  
Basic – ¢ 6.1 3.2 58.8 14.2 44.7
Diluted – ¢ 6.1 3.1 58.1 13.9 43.6

Dividends paid 79.2 75.3 80.9 78.9 59.9

Group balance sheet 
Non-current assets 7,087.3 4,372.8 3,524.0 3,689.8 3,438.8
Net current assets /(liabilities) (194.4) 121.6 (215.4) (134.8) (570.0)

Total assets less current liabilities 6,892.9 4,494.4 3,308.6 3,555.0 2,868.8
Long-term liabilities (3,024.0) (2,063.4) (1,414.7) (2,131.7) (1,367.3)

Net assets 3,868.9 2,431.0 1,893.9 1,423.3 1,501.5

Called up equity share capital 143.5 130.1 119.7 117.4 104.1
Share premium 251.5 242.3 231.1 178.0 173.3
Other reserves 574.2 614.5 607.8 541.9 695.7
Retained earnings 2,839.1 1,402.0 898.6 555.0 528.4

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 3,808.3 2,388.9 1,857.2 1,392.3 1,501.5
Non-controlling interest 60.6 42.1 36.7 31.0 –

Total equity 3,868.9 2,431.0 1,893.9 1,423.3 1,501.7

* The 2007 comparatives have been restated due to an asset held for sale being reclassified during 2008. 
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Commercial reserves and contingent resources summary  
(unaudited) working interest basis 
Year ended 31 December 2010 

Africa  Europe South Asia  Total 

Oil  
mmbbl 

Gas 
 bcf 

Oil 
mmbbl

Gas
 bcf

Oil 
mmbbl

Gas
 bcf

Oil  
mmbbl 

Gas
 bcf

Petroleum
mmboe

Commercial reserves 
1 Jan 2010 255.6 23.4  1.2 139.0 – 99.0  256.8 261.4 300.4
Revisions 2.9 –  0.4 38.9 0.3 16.8  3.6 55.7 12.9
Acquisitions 0.3 –  – – – –  0.3 – 0.3
Additions 1.1 –  – – – 4.8  1.1 4.8 1.9
Production  (14.0) (1.3)  (0.2) (27.6) – (12.5)  (14.2) (41.4) (21.1)
31 December 2010 245.9 22.1  1.4 150.3 0.3 108.1  247.6 280.5 294.4

Contingent resources 
1 Jan 2010 385.2 1,117.6  – 114.9 – 16.2  385.2 1,248.7 593.3
Revisions 0.9 7.2  – (20.9) – (4.2)  0.9 (17.9) (2.1)
Acquisitions 300.8 11.6  – – – –  300.8 11.6 302.8
Additions 219.5 301.9  – – – –  219.5 301.9 269.9
Disposals (13.2) (338.5)  – (7.1) – –  (13.2) (345.6) (70.8)
31 December 2010 893.2 1,099.8  – 86.9 – 12.0  893.2 1,198.7 1,093.1

Total 
31 December 2010 1,139.1 1,121.9  1.4 237.2 0.3 120.1  1,140.8 1,479.2 1,387.5

1.  Proven and Probable Commercial Reserves are based on a Group reserves report produced by an independent engineer. Reserves estimates for each field are  
reviewed by the independent engineer based on significant new data or a material change with a review of each field undertaken at least every two years. 

2.  Proven and Probable Contingent Resources are based on both Tullow’s estimates and the Group reserves report produced by an independent engineer. 
3.  The contingent resources acquisition in 2010 relates to the purchase of a 50% working interest in Blocks 1 and 3A in Uganda from Heritage Oil and Gas Ltd. 
4.  The total Commercial Reserves and Contingent Resources of 1,387.5 mmboe at 31 December 2010 include a 100% working interest in Blocks 1, 2 and 3A in 

Uganda. Post completion of the farm-down transaction with Total and CNOOC in Uganda, total Commercial Reserves and Contingent Resources are expected  
to reduce to 869 mmboe.  

The Group provides for depletion and amortisation of tangible fixed assets on a net entitlements basis, which reflects the terms 
of the Production Sharing Contracts related to each field. Total net entitlement reserves were 231.6 mmboe at 31 December 2010 
(31 December 2009: 265.4 mmboe).  

Contingent Resources relate to resources in respect of which development plans are in the course of preparation or further 
evaluation is underway with a view to development within the foreseeable future. 
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Supplementary information 
Licence interests 

Current exploration, development and production interests 

Licence Fields  
Area

sq km
Tullow  

interest  Operator Other partners 

AFRICA
Congo (Brazzaville) 
M’Boundi M’Boundi 146 11.00%  ENI  SNPC  
Côte d’Ivoire
CI-26 Special Area “E”  Espoir 235 21.33%  CNR  PETROCI  
CI-1021   865 31.50%  Edison  Kufpec, PETROCI  
CI-103    1,884 45.00%  Tullow Anadarko, PETROCI  
CI-105    1,551 22.37%  Anadarko  PETROCI, Al Thani  
Equatorial Guinea
Ceiba  Ceiba 70 14.25%  Hess  GEPetrol  
Okume Complex Okume, Oveng,  

Ebano & Elon 
192 14.25% Hess  GEPetrol 

Ethiopia
South Omo   29,465 50.00%  Tullow Africa Oil, Agriterra  
Gabon
Arouwe2   4,414 35.00%  Perenco    
Avouma Avouma,  

South Tchibala 
52 7.50% Vaalco  Addax (Sinopec), Sasol, Sojitz, 

PetroEnergy  
Ebouri Ebouri 15 7.50% Vaalco  Addax (Sinopec), Sasol, Sojitz, 

PetroEnergy  
Echira Echira 76 40.00%  Perenco   
Etame Etame 49 7.50% Vaalco  Addax (Sinopec), Sasol, Sojitz, 

PetroEnergy  
Kiarsseny Marin   5,442 52.78%  Tullow Addax (Sinopec) 
Limande Limande 10 40.00%  Perenco    
Niungo Niungo 96 40.00%  Perenco    
Nziembou   1,027 40.00%  Perenco  Total  
Oba Oba 44 5.00%3  Perenco  AIC Petrofi  
Obangue Obangue 40 3.75%3  Addax (Sinopec) AIC Petrofi  
Omko Omko 16 7.50%3  Maurel & Prom AIC Petrofi 
Onal Onal 46 7.50%3  Maurel & Prom AIC Petrofi  
Tchatamba Marin Tchatamba Marin 30 25.00%  Perenco  Oranje Nassau 
Tchatamba South Tchatamba South 40 25.00%  Perenco  Oranje Nassau 
Tchatamba West Tchatamba West 25 25.00%  Perenco  Oranje Nassau  
Tsiengui Tsiengui 26 3.75%3  Addax (Sinopec) AIC Petrofi  
Turnix Turnix 18 27.50%  Perenco    
Back-In Rights 4

DE7 (formerly Ombena)   2,188 5.00%5  Perenco   
Dussafu Marin   2,780 5.00%5 Harvest  

Natural Res 
Pan-Petroleum 

Etame Marin   2,972 7.50% Vaalco Addax (Sinopec), Sasol,  
Sojitz, PetroEnergy  

Etekamba   773 5.00%5  Maurel & Prom   
Maghena   631 3.75%5  Addax (Sinopec)   
Nyanga Mayombe   2,831 3.75%5  Maurel & Prom   
Omoueyi   4,133 7.50%5  Maurel & Prom   
Ghana 
Deepwater Tano  Jubilee, Tweneboa 831 49.95%  Tullow Kosmos, Anadarko, GNPC, Sabre 
West Cape Three Points Jubilee 1,497 22.90%  Kosmos  Anadarko, GNPC, E.O. Group, Sabre
Jubilee Field Unit Area6 Jubilee  34.70%  Tullow/Kosmos7 Anadarko, GNPC, Sabre, E.O Group 
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Licence Fields  

Area
sq km

Tullow   
interest   Operator Other partners 

AFRICA continued 
Kenya 
Block L8 8   5,115 10.00%    Origin Pancontinental 
Block 10A   14,747 50.00%  Tullow Africa Oil, EAX (Afren) 
Block 10BA   16,205 50.00%  Tullow Centric Energy (Africa Oil) 
Block 10BB   12,491 50.00%  Tullow Africa Oil, Lion 
Block 12A   15,389 50.00%  Tullow Africa Oil 
Block 13T   8,429 50.00%  Tullow Africa Oil 
Liberia 
LB-15   3,400 25.00%  Anadarko  Repsol, Woodside  
LB-16   3,225 25.00%  Anadarko  Repsol, Woodside  
LB-17   3,150 25.00%  Anadarko  Repsol, Woodside  
Madagascar 
Mandabe (Block 3109)   11,050 100.00%  Tullow   
Berenty (Block 3111)    9,050 100.00%  Tullow   
Mauritania 
Block 1   2,624 38.00%  Dana GDF, Roc Oil  
Block 2   4,898 83.78%  Tullow Dana, Roc Oil  
PSC – Area A  
 Block 3 
 Blocks 4 & 5 shallow 

 6,969 24.30%  Petronas Premier, Kufpec, Roc Oil  

PSC – Area B  
 Blocks 4 & 5 deep 

 8,028 21.60%  Petronas Premier, Kufpec, Roc Oil  

PSC – Area B 
 Chinguetti EEA 

Chinguetti 929 19.01%  Petronas  SMH, Premier, Kufpec, Roc Oil  

Block 6   4,023 22.42%  Petronas Roc Oil  
Block 7   6,676 16.20%  Dana  Petronas, GDF, Roc Oil 
Namibia 
Production Licence 002 Kudu 4,567 31.00%9 Tullow Gazprom/NAMCOR JV, Itochu  
Senegal 
St Louis   2,807 60.00%  Tullow Dana, Petrosen 
Sierra Leone  
SL-06/07 & SL-07   5,493 10.00%  Anadarko Repsol, Woodside  
Tanzania 
Lindi   7,315 50.00%  Tullow  Aminex, Solo 
Mtwara   5,045 50.00%  Tullow  Aminex, Solo 
Uganda 
Exploration Area 110 Jobi-Rii, Mpyo, Ngiri 4,285 100.00%11  Tullow   
Exploration Area 2 Mputa, Waraga,  

Kasamene, Nzizi 
3,900 100.00%11 Tullow   

Exploration Area 3A10 Kingfisher 1,991 100.00%11  Tullow   

1.  Tullow is in the process of withdrawing from this licence. 
2.  Tullow has ‘Back-In Rights’ on this licence as well as a working interest. 
3.  Tullow’s interest in this licence is held through its 50% holding in Tulipe Oil SA. 
4.  Back-In Rights: Tullow has the option, in the event of a development, to acquire varying interests in these licences.  
5.  Tullow has the option to acquire an interest in this licence through its 50% holding in Tulipe Oil SA. 
6.  A unitisation agreement has been agreed by the partners of the West Cape Three Points and Deepwater Tano licences for the area covering the Jubilee Field 

Phase 1 Development Area. 
7.  Tullow is the Unit Operator and Kosmos is the Technical Operator for Phase 1 of the Jubilee Development. 
8.  Tullow has agreed to farm in to Block L8 acquiring a 10% stake from Pancontinental. Apache is also farming in to this block, under a separate deal with Origin,  

and will become operator. 
9.  Awaiting signing of formal documentation. 
10. On 26 July 2010 Tullow completed the acquisition of Heritage Oil plc’s 50% interest in EA 1 and EA 3A. The deal has received government approval and is awaiting 

completion of final paperwork. 
11. Tullow is in the process of farming down 66.6666% of its interest in EA 1, EA 2 and EA 3A to CNOOC and Total. The deal is awaiting government approval. 
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Licence interests continued

Current exploration, development and production interests continued

Licence / Unit Area Blocks Fields 
Area

sq km
Tullow  

 interest   Operator Other partners 

EUROPE 
United Kingdom 
CMS Area 
P450 44/21a Boulton B & F 77 9.50%   ConocoPhillips  GDF 
P451 44/22a  Murdoch 88 34.00%   ConocoPhillips GDF 
  44/22b Boulton H12

P452  44/23a (part) Murdoch K12 48 6.91%   ConocoPhillips  GDF  
P453 44/28b Ketch 85 100.00%   Tullow   
P516 44/26a Schooner13 99 100.00%   Tullow   
P1006  44/17b Munro14 48 20.00%   GDF  ConocoPhillips  
P1058  44/18b   46 22.50%   ConocoPhillips  GDF  
  44/23b Kelvin        
P1139 44/19b  60 22.50%   ConocoPhillips  GDF  
  44/19b part 

(Cameron) 
  60.00%15 Tullow ConocoPhillips, GDF 

P1437 44/13a  192 25.00%   GDF  E.ON, Endeavour  
 14.10%   ConocoPhillips  GDF CMS III Unit16 44/17a (part) 

44/17c (part) 
44/21a (part) 
44/22a (part) 
44/22b (part) 
44/22c (part) 
44/23a (part) 

Boulton H, 
Hawksley, McAdam, 
Murdoch K 

Munro Unit16 44/17b Munro  15.00%   ConocoPhillips  GDF  
  44/17a          
Schooner Unit16 44/26a Schooner  93.10%   Tullow Faroe Petroleum  
  43/30a          
Thames-Hewett Area 
P007 49/24aF1  

(Excl Gawain) 
  163 100.00%  Tullow   

  49/24aF1 (Gawain) Gawain17  50.00%   Perenco   
P037 49/28a 

49/28b 
Thames, Yare, Bure, 
Deben, Wensum 

90 66.67%  Perenco  Centrica  

  49/28a (part) Thurne  86.96%   Tullow Centrica  
P039 53/04d Wissey 29 62.50%  Tullow First Oil, Faroe 

Petroleum  
P060 50/26a Orwell 27 100.00%   Tullow   
P105 49/29a (part) Gawain17 17 50.00%   Perenco    
P786 53/03c Horne  8 50.00%   Tullow Centrica  
P852 53/04b Horne & Wren  17 50.00%   Tullow Centrica  
P1445 48/28c, 52/03a   428 100.00%   Tullow   
  52/04b, 52/05b          
P1715 49/29d   50 100.00%   Tullow   
P1716 49/28e  87 65.00%18  Tullow Volantis 
 49/30b     
Gawain Unit16 49/24F1 (Gawain) Gawain 50.00%   Perenco    
  49/29a (part)          
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Licence Fields 

Area
sq km

Tullow  
interests   Operator Other partners 

EUROPE continued 
Netherlands 
E10   401 32.00%  Tullow XTO, GTO, EBN 
E11   401 30.00%  Tullow XTO, EBN  
E13a   234 50.00%  Tullow EBN, Gas Plus  
E13b   168 10.00%  GDF  Wintershall, EBN, Dyas  
E14   403 32.00%  Tullow XTO, GTO , EBN  
E15c   343 30.00%  Tullow  XTO, GTO, Gas Plus, EBN  
E18b   192 32.00%  Tullow XTO, GTO, EBN  
L12c   30 30.00%  Tullow EBN, Nuon, Wintershall 
L12d   225 30.00%  Tullow EBN, Nuon, Wintershall  
L15d   62 30.00%  Tullow EBN, Nuon, Wintershall  

SOUTH ASIA 
Bangladesh  
Block 9 Bangora / Lalmai 1,770 30.00%  Tullow Niko, Bapex  
Pakistan  
Bannu West   1,230 40.00%  Tullow OGDCL, MGCL, SEL  
Block 28   6,200 95.00%  Tullow OGDCL  
Kalchas   2,068 30.00%  OGDCL  MGCL 
Kohat Shekhan 1,107 40.00%  OGDCL MGCL, SEL  
Kohlu   2,459 30.00%  OGDCL  MGCL  
Sara D&PL  Sara19 83 38.18%  Tullow OGDCL, POL, Attock  
Suri D&PL  Suri19 24 38.18%  Tullow OGDCL , POL, Attock  

SOUTH AMERICA 
French Guiana 
Guyane Maritime   32,120 39.50%20 Tullow Shell21, Total21,  

Northpet Investments  
Guyana 
Georgetown Block   8,400 30.00%  Repsol YPF, CGX Resources 
Suriname  
Block 47   2,369 100.00%  Tullow   
Coronie22   2,592 40.00%23 Paradise Oil    
Uitkijk   757 36.50%  Paradise Oil  Portsea  

12. Refer to CMS III Unit for field interest. 
13. Refer to Schooner Unit for field interest. 
14. Refer to Munro Unit for field interest. 
15. Tullow has agreed a farm-in with ConocoPhillips whereby it will increase its interest in the Cameron Area of 44/19b. 
16. For the UK offshore area, fields that extend across more than one licence area with differing partner interests become part of a unitised area. The interest held  

in the Unitised Field Area is split amongst the holders of the relevant licences according to their proportional ownership of the field. The unitised areas in which  
Tullow is involved are listed in addition to the nominal licence holdings. 

17. Refer to Gawain Unit for field interest. 
18. Tullow has agreed a farm-in deal with Volantis whereby it will acquire a 65% interest in P1716. 
19. The Sara/Suri fields were shut in during Q4 2010. 
20. Shell has exercised its option to acquire a further 12% from Tullow. Tullow’s interest will reduce to 27.5% on completion of the deal which is awaiting  

government approval. 
21. Shell and Total farm-in deals awaiting final government approval. 
22. Tullow will acquire its interests on completion of work programme. 
23. Tullow has a 40% title interest (36.5% economic interest). 
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Shareholder information 

Shareholder enquiries  
All enquiries concerning shareholdings including notification 
of change of address, loss of a share certificate or dividend 
payments should be made to the Company’s registrars, 
Computershare Investor Services PLC, whose contact  
details are as follows: 

Computershare Investor Services PLC  
The Pavilions  
Bridgwater Road  
Bristol  
BS99 6ZZ  

Contact: www.investorcentre.co.uk/contactus  

Telephone number – UK shareholders: 0870 703 6242 
Telephone number – Irish shareholders: 00 353 1 216 3744 
Telephone number – other shareholders: 00 44 870 703 6242 

A range of shareholder frequently asked questions and 
practical help on transferring shares and updating details is 
available online in the Shareholder Services section located in 
the Investors area of the Tullow website: www.tullowoil.com.  

Computershare online enquiry service  
Computershare provides a range of services through its  
online portal, Investor Centre, which can be accessed free of 
charge at www.investorcentre.co.uk. This service, accessible 
from anywhere in the world, enables shareholders to check 
details of their shareholdings or dividends, download forms  
to notify changes in personal details, and access other 
relevant information.  

Payment of dividends  
Shareholders can have their dividends paid directly into a UK 
sterling or Irish euro bank account and have the tax voucher 
sent directly to their registered address. You can register your 
account details in Investor Centre or, alternatively download 
a dividend mandate form. 

Overseas shareholders who wish to have their dividends paid 
in a local currency can use the Global Payments Service that 
Computershare has established. Details of the service can be 
accessed in the Shareholder Services section of the Investors 
area of the Tullow website: www.tullowoil.com.  

Share dealing service  
A telephone share dealing service has been established for 
shareholders with Computershare for the sale and purchase 
of Tullow Oil shares. Shareholders who are interested in 
using this service can obtain further details by calling the 
appropriate telephone number below:  

UK shareholders: 0870 703 0084 
Irish shareholders: 00 353 1 447 5435 

If you live outside the UK or Ireland and wish to trade you  
can do so through the Computershare Trading Account.  
To find out more or to open an account, please visit 
www.computershare-sharedealing.co.uk or phone 
Computershare on +44 (0) 870 707 1606. 

Electronic communication  
Shareholders have the option to receive shareholder 
communications including annual reports and notices of 
meetings electronically. Tullow actively supports Woodland Trust, 
the UK’s leading woodland conservation charity. Computershare, 
together with Woodland Trust, has established eTree, an 
environmental programme designed to promote electronic 
shareholder communications. Under this programme, the 
Company makes a donation to eTree for every shareholder 
who registers for electronic communication. To register for 
this service, simply visit www.etreeuk.com/tullowoilplc with your 
shareholder number and email address to hand. Once registered, 
shareholders will be emailed when an annual report or notice of 
meeting is available for viewing on the Tullow website.  

Shareholder security 
Shareholders are advised to be cautious about any unsolicited 
financial advice; offers to buy shares at a discount or offers of 
free company reports. More detailed information can be found 
at www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk and in the Shareholder 
Services section of the Investors area of the Tullow website: 
www.tullowoil.com.  

ShareGift 
If you have a small number of shares whose value makes  
it uneconomical to sell you may wish to consider donating 
them to ShareGift. Any shares donated to ShareGift will be 
aggregated and sold when possible with the proceeds donated 
to a wide range of UK charities. The relevant share transfer 
form may be obtained from Computershare. Further 
information about the scheme is available at www.ShareGift.org.  

Financial calendar  
Financial year end  31 December 2010 
2010 Full-year results announced  9 March 2011 
Annual General Meeting  12 May 2011 
Interim Management Statement  12 May 2011 
2010 Final dividend payable  20 May 2011 
2011 Half-yearly results announced  24 August 2011 
2011 Interim dividend payable  November 2011 
Interim Management Statement  November 2011 
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Contacts 

Secretary & registered office  
Graham Martin  
Tullow Oil plc  
9 Chiswick Park 
566 Chiswick High Road 
London W4 5XT 
United Kingdom 

Contact details  
Tullow Oil plc  
9 Chiswick Park  
566 Chiswick High Road  
London W4 5XT 
United Kingdom 

Tel: +44 20 3249 9000 
Fax: +44 20 3249 8801 

Tullow Oil plc  
5th Floor 
Block C 
Central Park 
Leopardstown  
Dublin 18  
Ireland  

Tel: +353 1 213 7300  
Fax: +353 1 293 0400 

Tullow Oil plc 
11th Floor  
Convention Tower 
Cnr. Heerengracht &  
Coen Steytler Avenue 
Cape Town 8001 
South Africa  

Tel: +27 21 400 7600  
Fax: +27 21 400 7660 

Tullow Overseas Holdings B.V. 
Scheveningseweg 58 
2517 KW 
The Hague 
The Netherlands 

Tel: +31 70 338 7546 
Fax: +31 70 338 9136 

Tullow Ghana Ltd. 
Plot No. 71  
Off George Walker Bush Highway 
North Dzorwulu  
Accra  
Ghana 

Tel: +233 302 742200  
Fax: +233 302 742300 

Tullow Uganda Operations Pty Ltd 
Plot 15 Yusuf Lule Road 
P.O. Box 16644 
Kampala 
Uganda 

Tel: +256 414 564 000 
Fax: +256 414 564 066 

Registrars  
Computershare Investor Services PLC 
The Pavilions 
Bridgwater Road 
Bristol BS99 6ZZ 

Stockbrokers  
RBS Hoare Govett Limited 
135 Bishopsgate 
London EC2M 3UR 

Merrill Lynch International  
2 King Edward Street  
London EC1A 1HQ  

Davy 
Davy House 
49 Dawson Street  
Dublin 2  
Ireland  

Auditors  
Deloitte LLP  
Chartered Accountants  
2 New Street Square  
London EC4A 3BZ  

Legal advisers  
Dickson Minto W.S. 
Broadgate Tower  
20 Primrose Street 
London EC2A 2EW 

Email (General): info@tullowoil.com

Email (Investor Relations): ir@tullowoil.com

Website: www.tullowoil.com 
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A 
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Angola  58
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Auditors’ remuneration  115

B 
Balance sheet  39, 103, 141, 152

Bangladesh 60

Bank loans  146

Basis of accounting  106, 142

Basis of consolidation 107

Board of Directors  74

Operational highlights  5

Business model  22

C 
Called up equity share capital and  
share premium account  134

Capital commitments  138

Capital expenditure  38

Cash and cash equivalents  110, 123

Cash flow statement  105

Cash flows from operating activities  135

Chairman’s introduction to corporate governance  72

Chairman’s statement  14

Chief Executive’s review 18

Commercial reserves  108, 153

Congo (Brazzaville)  58

Congo (DRC)  57

Contact details  159

Contingent liabilities  138

Corporate governance  72, 76

Cote d’Ivoire  6, 53, 54

Creating shared prosperity  19, 65

Critical accounting judgements  110

D 
Debtors  145

Decommissioning costs  132

Deferred tax 133

Depletion and amortisation  108

Directors’ remuneration report  86

Dividends  95, 118, 145, 158

E 
Earnings per ordinary share  102, 118

Effective interest method  110

Environment, Health and Safety  68

Equatorial Guinea  57

Equity instruments  110

Ethiopia  7, 57

Europe  51, 59

Exploration and appraisal  24

Exploration, evaluation and production assets  108

F 
Finance costs and debt 108, 142

Finance review 36

Financial assets 109

Financial instruments 109, 128

Financial liabilities 110, 124, 126, 142

Financial results 4, 36

Five year financial summary 152

Foreign currencies 108, 142

French Guiana 7, 61

G 
Gabon 6, 57

Ghana 6, 28, 52, 73

Glossary 161

Going concern 40, 81 

Governance highlights 17

Group statement of changes in equity 104

Guyana 61

H 
Hedging 38

How we are organised 23

How we create value 8

I 
Income statement (Group) 152

Independent Auditors’ Report 101

Intangible exploration and evaluation assets 119

Inventory 107

Investments 122, 142, 144

J 
Jubilee Special Feature 28
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Kenya 7, 57

Key financial metrics 37

Key Performance Indicators 10

Key producing assets 50, 51

L 
Leases 109, 132

Licence interests 154, 156

Loans and receivables 110

Loans from subsidiary undertakings 147

M 
Mauritania 6, 58

Madagascar  58

N 
Namibia 58

Netherlands 60

Nominations Committee 84

Non-current assets held for sale 107

Non-controlling interest 137

Notes to the financial statements 112, 141

O 
Obligations under finance leases 132

Operating cash flow and capital investment 4, 11, 38

Operating lease arrangements 138

Operating profit 38, 115

Operations review 49

Other current assets 123

Other reserves 134, 148

Other statutory information 95

Over/underlift 107

P 
Pakistan 61

Pensions 109

People 68

Portugal 60

Production and development 26

Property, plant and equipment 108

Provisions 96, 132

Related party transactions 139, 151

Remuneration Committee 86

Reserves and resources 9, 10, 27, 50

Rest of the World 59

Revenue 37, 50, 102, 107, 114

Risk management 42

S 
Segmental reporting 112, 114

Senegal 6, 58

Senior Management Committee 78

Share issue expenses and share premium account 109

Share-based payments 109, 136, 138, 139, 142, 149, 150, 151

Shareholder information 158

Shareholder relations 80

Shareholders’ funds 148

Sierra Leone  64

South America 25, 51, 61

South Asia 51, 60

Staff costs 116

Statement of comprehensive income and expense 102

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 100

Strategy 20

Subsequent events 95, 139, 151

Summary cash flow 38

Suriname 61

T 
Tanzania 58

Taxation 109, 117, 133, 142

Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 118

Total revenue 114

Total shareholder return 11, 19, 21

Trade and other creditors 145

Trade and other payables 124

Trade receivables 123

U 
Uganda 7, 54

UK 59

V 
Vision 20

W 
Where we operate 6

Working interest production 9, 10, 27, 50
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Glossary 

A 
AGM  Annual General Meeting  

AFS Available for sale 

B 
bbl  Barrel  

bcf  Billion cubic feet  

boe  Barrels of oil equivalent  

boepd Barrels of oil equivalent per day  

bopd  Barrels of oil per day  

C 
¢ Cent

CMS  Caister Murdoch System  

CMS III  A group development of five satellite fields  
 linked to CMS  

CR  Corporate Responsibility  

CSO Civil Society Organisation 

CNOOC China National Offshore Oil Corporation 

D 
DLT Development Leadership Team 

DoA Delegation of Authority 

DRC  Democratic Republic of Congo  

DSBP  Deferred Share Bonus Plan  

E 
EA Exploration Area 

E&E Exploration and evaluation 

E&A  Exploration and appraisal  

E&P Exploration and production 

EBITDA  Earnings Before Interest, Tax,  
Depreciation and Amortisation  

EHS  Environment, Health and Safety 

EMS Environmental Management System 

ERC  Energy Resource Consultants  

ESOS  Executive Share Option Scheme  

F 
FEED  Front End Engineering and Design  

FPSO  Floating Production Storage and  
Offloading vessel 

FRC  Financial Reporting Council  

FRS  Financial Reporting Standard  

FTG Full Tensor Gravity Gradiometry 

FTSE 100  Equity index whose constituents are 
the 100 largest UK listed companies by  
market capitalisation  

FVTPL Fair Value Through Profit or Loss  

G 
GELT Global Exploration Leadership Team 

GNPC  Ghana National Petroleum Corporation 

GoU Government of Uganda 

Group  Company and its subsidiary undertakings  

H 
H&S  Health and Safety  

HIPO  High Potential Incident  

HNBS  Hewitt New Bridge Street  

HR  Human Resources  

I 
IAS  International Accounting Standard  

IASB International Accounting Standards Board 

IFRIC  International Financial Reporting  
Interpretations Committee  

IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standards  

IMS  Information Management System  

ISO  International Organization for  
Standardization  

K 
km kilometres  

KPI  Key Performance Indicator  

L 
LIBOR  London Interbank Offered Rate  

LTI  Lost Time Incident  

LTIFR  LTI Frequency Rate measured in  
LTIs per million hours worked  

M 
mmbbl  Million barrels  

mmbo  Million barrels of oil  

mmboe  Million barrels of oil equivalent  

mmscfd  Million standard cubic feet per day 

MoU Memorandum of Understanding 

MTM Mark To Market 

N 
NGO  Non-Governmental Organisation 

O 
OR&A Operational Readiness and Assurance 
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P 
p  pence  

P10  Reserves and/or resources estimates that 
have a 10 per cent probability of being  
met or exceeded  

P50  Reserves and/or resources estimates that 
have a 50 per cent probability of being  
met or exceeded  

P&D  Production and Development  

PAYE  Pay As You Earn  

PRT  Petroleum Revenue Tax  

PSC  Production Sharing Contract  

PSP  Performance Share Plan  

S 
SCT  Supplementary Corporation Tax  

SIP  Share Incentive Plan  

SMC Senior Management Committee 

SPA Sale and Purchase Agreement 

sq km Square kilometres  

SRI  Socially Responsible Investment  

T 
toes Tullow Oil Environmental Standards 

TSR  Total Shareholder Return  

U 
UK GAAP UK Generally Accepted  

Accounting Principles 

V 
VAT  Value Added Tax  

W 
WAEP  Weighted Average Exercise Price 

WCTP West Cape Three Points 
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Go online to find out more...
This report is complemented by a range of online information and resources.

www.tullowoil.com
This is our main corporate site. Key sections 
include our business, investors, media, 
corporate responsibility and our people. There 
is also information on our major projects and 
links to our other websites. Site tools include 
alert services, social media, low band width 
version, mobile site and My Tullow, a facility 
where you can customise the site to suit your 
preferences and information needs.

We are planning a series of upgrades to our 
corporate website again this year including 
a new sustainable supply chain section and 
further upgrades to corporate responsibility 
and our people content.

www.tullowoil.com/reports
We have a central hub for key financial 
calendar events such as results and the 
AGM and for our corporate reports. 
Results webcasts, presentations and 
fact books are also available here.

2010 Annual Report and Accounts
This Annual Report is published online. 
Visit: www.tullowoil.com/ara2010

2010 Corporate Responsibility Report
Our 2010 Corporate Responsibility 
Report will be published on 1 June 2011. 
We will also publish an online version. 
Visit: www.tullowoil.com/crr2010

www.tullowoil.com/ghana
This is a dedicated country website for Ghana, which delivered 
virtual events and content for the Ghana capital markets visit 
mid-year and First Oil celebrations in December 2010. In the 
first half of 2011 we will use this site for the Ghana stock 
exchange listing and we will review upgrading this site to a full 
country website.
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E-communications
•  All documents on the website are available to view without any particular software requirement other than the software 

which is available on the Group’s website.
•  For every shareholder who signs up for electronic communications, a donation is made to the eTree initiative run 

by Woodland Trust. You can register for email communication at: www.etreeuk.com/tullowoilplc
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This report is printed on Heaven 42 which is FSC certified (the standards for well-managed forests, considering environmental, 
social and economic issues). Heaven 42 is manufactured at a mill that is certified to the ISO14001 and EMAS environmental standards.

Designed and produced by Black Sun Plc  

Printed by St Ives Westerham Press
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Tullow Oil plc 
9 Chiswick Park
566 Chiswick High Road
London W4 5XT
United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)20 3249 9000
Fax: +44 (0)20 3249 8801

Email: info@tullowoil.com
Website: www.tullowoil.com
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